Birte Snilstveit Jennifer Stevenson Radhika Menon Daniel Phillips Emma Gallagher Maisie Geleen Hannah Jobse **Tanja Schmidt Emmanuel Jimenez**

The impact of education programmes on learning and school participation in low- and middle-income countries

September 2016

Systematic Review Summary 7



13923 TANK

are an and among a gar and the and and which i want and date

> WHEN CONCEN ZUS WHEN MANN A COURT OF ATTA ATTACT A The Party Alle a BILL BURY NO.

> > 12013-000

ares in 0074 ATTA RTO RTAIN

10101010

International **Initiative for Impact Evaluation**

About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) is an international grant-making NGO promoting evidence-informed development policies and programmes. We are the global leader in funding, producing and synthesising high-quality evidence of what works, for whom, why and at what cost. We believe that high-quality, policy-relevant evidence will help make development more effective and improve people's lives.

3ie in-house systematic reviews

3ie in-house systematic reviews appraise and synthesise the available high-quality evidence on the effectiveness of social and economic development interventions in low- and middle-income countries. 3ie's specialists follow scientifically recognised methods in conducting these reviews. They are quality assured according to internationally accepted standards. They are peer reviewed by members of an expert advisory group and three anonymous external reviewers. 3ie is providing leadership in demonstrating rigorous and innovative review methodologies, such as using theory-based approaches suited to informing policy and programming in the dynamic and challenging contexts of low- and middle-income countries.

About this systematic review summary report

3ie systematic review summary reports distil key analyses and present the findings and recommendations of a full systematic review for policymakers and programme managers. The impact of education programmes on learning and school participation in low- and middle-income countries is based on a full review, Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, which is available on the 3ie website. The summary report was peer-reviewed internally and by members of the expert advisory group convened for the full review.

Funding for the summary report was provided by 3ie's donors, which include UK aid, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the Hewlett Foundation. A complete listing of donors is provided on the 3ie website.

All content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors are the sole responsibility of the authors. Questions or comments about this summary report should be directed to the corresponding author, Birte Snilstveit at bsnilstveit@3ieimpact.org

Suggested citation:

Snilstveit, B, Stevenson, J, Menon, R, Phillips, D, Gallagher, E, Geleen, M, Jobse, H, Schmidt, T and Jimenez, E, 2016. *The impact of education programmes on learning and school participation in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review summary report, 3ie Systematic Review Summary 7.* London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

3ie Systematic Review Summary Series executive editors: Edoardo Masset and Beryl Leach

Managing editor: Deepthy Menon

Production manager: Pradeep Singh

Copy-editor: Ruth Pitt

Proofreading: Scriptoria

Design: John F McGill

Cover photo: Asian Development Bank/Abir Abdullah

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2016

The impact of education programmes on learning and school participation in low- and middle-income countries

3ie Systematic Review Summary 7 September 2016

Birte Snilstveit International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

Jennifer Stevenson 3ie

Radhika Menon 3ie

Daniel Phillips 3ie

Emma Gallagher 3ie

Maisie Geleen Maxwell Stamp

Hannah Jobse Independent Consultant

Tanja Schmidt Independent Consultant

Emmanuel Jimenez 3ie



Acknowledgements

This summary report is based on Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review by Birte Snilstveit, Jennifer Stevenson, Daniel Phillips, Martina Vojtkova, Emma Gallagher, Tanja Schmidt, Hannah Jobse, Maisie Geelen, Maria Pastorello and John Evers. We are grateful to 3ie colleagues who provided inputs at various stages of producing the systematic review: Phillip Davies, Howard White and Hugh Waddington. Thanks also to Ariel Aloe, Christopher Thompson, Shannon Shisler and Josh Polanin for advice and support on effect size calculation and meta-analysis, and to Paul Fenton and Anna Fox for excellent research assistance. Three external peer reviewers provided insightful comments on the systematic review technical report, and we greatly appreciate their input. We would also like to thank members of our systematic review expert advisory group - Rukmini Banerji, Chris Berry, Elizabeth King, Juan Miguel Luz, Penelope Bender, Bob Slavin and Stephen Taylor for invaluable contributions throughout the process of producing the review. Our thanks to organisers and participants at events where previous versions of the full review were presented and inputs received, including to Jeff Waage for organising the round-table discussion at the London International Development Centre, and Marie Gaarder and colleagues at the World Bank for organising a seminar.

For invaluable comments and editorial contributions to this summary report, we are very grateful to Elizabeth King, Chris Berry, Gerd-Hanne Fosen, Hugh Waddington, Beryl Leach and Edoardo Masset. The usual disclaimer applies: all views and errors are our own.

Contents

Foreword	iv
Summary	1
1 Introduction	5
2 Methods	7
3 The evidence base	11
4 Children and households	15
5 Schools and teachers	25
6 Systems	37
7 Conclusion	45
References	52
Appendix 1: Summary of findings for primary outcomes	61
Appendix 2: Intervention result matrix	63
Endnotes	64

Figures and tables	
Figure 1 How education interventions may work	9
Figure 2 PRISMA diagram	11
Figure 3 Distribution of studies across interventions	12
Figure 4 Map of included studies	13
Table 1 Study designs	13
Table 2 Outcomes reported in studies	14
Figure 5 School-feeding may improve both school participation and learning	17
Figure 6 Cash transfers get children to school but do not improve learning overall	21
Figure 7 Average effects of structured pedagogy across all outcomes	25
Figure 8 Average effects of computer-assisted learning across all outcomes	33
Figure 9 Average effects of community-based monitoring across all outcomes	38
Figure 10 Average effects of school-based management across all outcomes	40
Figure 11 Visual overview of results across the review	45

Foreword

Across the world, governments are increasingly aware that improving access to schooling does not assure student learning. Student attendance and numbers of teachers on the job are important indicators of a functional education system. But these do not automatically imply that the imparted learning is effective or, more importantly, that the student is achieving a rewarding life experience.

Global monitoring reports show that education reforms in several countries face multiple and complex challenges that require long-term vision, political will and ability to innovate, and the financial resources to support the implementation of effective education policies.

At a time when resources are scarce and needs are large, it is critical that policymakers have quick and easy access to evidence on the impact of policies and programmes designed to improve education outcomes. To make the case for the use of public money for education reforms and for scaling up the right interventions, we clearly need high-quality evidence to support the decision-making process.

In this context, I welcome this comprehensive systematic review summary report on the impact of education programmes on learning and school participation. In the past few years, there have been several attempts at such reviews. This one stands out because of the range and total number of programmes it covers. It includes studies assessing the impact of 216 programmes implemented across 52 low- and middle-income countries. And it moves beyond examining whether a programme works or doesn't work. By examining the multiple factors that influence the effectiveness of education programmes and by getting into the black box of programme operations, it offers many valuable lessons for all those who are working in the education sector across the world.

Having access to evidence on how education policies can be made to work better is critical evidence for a host of government actors. The Ministry of Education in Peru strongly believes in using evidence for informing its policies. We now have an innovation lab for piloting and evaluating new interventions, using both impact and process evaluations – an important step towards institutionalising the culture of using evidence for informing education policies. Improving education quality is a high priority in Peru, with particular importance given to the curriculum and on teachers' training. Extending the school day, using text messages to disseminate information about the provision of bilingual education, and offering merit-based incentives to teachers are just some of the many policies that are currently being implemented and concurrently being evaluated.

From the perspective of a country like Peru, which has a huge challenge of making education a real pathway for prosperity for all its citizens, 3ie's systematic review and its summary report offers critical insights on the effectiveness of structured pedagogic programmes, additional instructional time, remedial education and community engagement. I am sure it will be extremely useful for all government actors, researchers and programme implementers throughout the world.

Jaime Saavedra Minister of Education, Peru

Summary

Introduction

Education is a fundamental human right that is critical to people's well-being. The United Nations' Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) for education emphasises the importance of equitable access to quality education for improving people's lives and for the sustainable development of countries. Although significant progress has been made in improving children's access to education in lowand middle-income countries (L&MICs), around 263 million children and youth were still out of school at the end of 2014. This included 61 million children of primary school age (6-11 years), 60 million young adolescents of lower secondary school age (12–14 years) and 142 million youth of upper secondary school age (15–17 years) (UIS & GEM 2016). In L&MICs where access to education has improved, this has not necessarily led to improved learning. According to the Education for all global monitoring report (UNESCO 2014), approximately 250 million children in L&MICs cannot read. write or do basic maths. This number includes more than 130 million children who have not acquired these basic skills, despite being enrolled in primary school.

To achieve the ambitious SDG education targets by 2030, the UN Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) has estimated that more than double the current levels of spending (on a per primary school student basis) would be required in low-income countries. The shortfall in funding for universal and good-quality pre-primary, primary and secondary education in L&MICs has been estimated to be US\$39 billion per year (UNESCO 2015). Funding for education is constrained, so funds should be spent on programmes that are most likely to improve outcomes. This systematic review provides decision-makers with evidence on the effects of a range of education interventions in L&MICs. We analyse the effectiveness of these interventions in improving children's enrolment, attendance, completion and learning outcomes in primary and secondary school.

Results

We synthesised evidence from 216 programmes reaching 16 million children across 52 L&MICs. The results demonstrate there are no 'magic bullets' to ensure high-quality education for all, but there are lessons to be learned for improving future education programmes.

Children and households

A range of different programmes address barriers and constraints to school participation and learning faced by children and households. These programmes typically aim to address the constraints that children face due to poor health and malnutrition, by providing material incentives for schooling for children and/or parents or by reducing the cost of schooling. Some programmes are designed to address multiple barriers to education, such as school-feeding, which aim to both improve nutrition and reduce the cost of schooling.

The results, based on evidence from 107 studies, show that programmes that address child and household constraints to children's education may be particularly effective at improving participation outcomes. Cash transfers are most effective in improving school participation, while merit-based scholarships have been more successful in improving learning outcomes. School-feeding is a promising intervention for improving both school participation and test scores. Despite being widely implemented, the effects of providing information to children and/or parents, reducing user fees and school-based health programmes are not clear because few studies have been conducted.

Schools and teachers

Programmes that address the constraints schools and teachers face when attempting to improve the classroom environment are particularly important for improving learning outcomes. Such programmes typically focus on improving the effectiveness of lessons directly, by changing the curriculum and how it is delivered, providing additional materials, introducing new technology and/or by improving the quantity and quality of teachers through incentives, training or changes in hiring practices. Several programmes include a combination of different components.



Evidence from 61 programmes addressing constraints at the school and teacher levels shows that such programmes can improve children's learning outcomes. Programmes using structured pedagogy to change the classroom environment had the largest and most consistent positive effects on learning of any programme included in the review. Remedial education, additional instructional time and construction of new schools are also promising for improving learning outcomes, but more research is needed to assess these interventions. Providing education-related 'hardware', such as materials and technology, may be necessary but not always sufficient for improving learning outcomes. Such programmes are not effective if they are poorly designed or implemented. Despite the popularity of teacher-focused interventions, we find limited evidence on intervention effects, and are unable to draw any strong conclusions about the effects of specific programmes. However, teacher incentives appear to have small effects on some aspects of teachers' behaviour and children's learning outcomes.

Systems

There is an increasing focus on systems interventions that aim to improve education outcomes by changing the education system at the community, local, provincial or national level. Such programmes aim to improve the way schools are run by changing the governance and financing of education. We synthesised the evidence from 37 studies assessing the effects of three such commonly implemented programmes: community-based monitoring interventions; school-based management interventions; and public–private partnerships.

The evidence suggests public–private partnerships (low-cost private schools) and community-based monitoring may improve school participation outcomes in some contexts, with community-based monitoring also improving learning in some contexts. The results for school-based management are less encouraging, with small overall effects, and zero or small negative effects in some cases.

Conclusions

The results from this systematic review provide several important findings to inform future programmes. Firstly, these results demonstrate that programmes can improve school participation and learning outcomes in L&MICs. Secondly, looking across more than 20 different types of intervention we find that, with a few exceptions, programmes typically improve either school participation or learning outcomes, but not both. The exceptions are community-based monitoring, school-feeding and multi-component interventions. The evidence suggests these interventions have improved both school participation and learning outcomes in some contexts, although more evidence is needed to confirm this finding. Thirdly, some programmes are more effective than others. There is fairly strong and consistent evidence that cash transfer programmes have relatively large positive effects on school participation outcomes, while structured pedagogy programmes have the largest and most consistent positive effects on learning outcomes. A range of other interventions have also improved outcomes substantially in some contexts and are considered promising.

Fourthly, children face multiple barriers to school participation and learning. It is therefore not surprising that we observe effects of a relatively small magnitude or improvements in a limited set of outcomes for many interventions that address only one type of barrier. New programmes may be more effective if the design is informed by an analysis of the main barriers to improved outcomes in a particular context, including the capacity of other parts of the school system closely linked to an intervention. Such analysis will allow new programmes to target the main constraints and therefore achieve better outcomes.

In some contexts, strategies addressing multiple constraints may be necessary to achieve larger overall effects across multiple outcomes. The most appropriate strategy, or set of education strategies, would depend on which constraints are most pressing in a particular context. In contexts with weak education systems and low levels of human capital, it may be necessary to intervene across more than one sphere to improve the chances of seeing substantial improvements in one or more outcomes.

For example, cash transfer programmes are likely to reduce the cost of schooling and improve children's participation. But if the existing curriculum content, materials and available teachers are not of sufficient quality, the programme will not improve learning outcomes. To also improve learning outcomes, it may therefore be necessary to adopt interventions that address learning more directly. Finally, there are key gaps in the current evidence base. Studies are unevenly spread across interventions and countries. In particular, there are few studies of programmes that target teachers. Studies of promising programmes will help reach more certain conclusions. While the included studies use rigorous designs to assess the effects of interventions, there is a lack of data on how programmes affect different sub-populations, as well as studies of process, implementation and costs. Future mixed-method impact evaluation studies can help address this evidence gap.

As national governments work on strategies for meeting the ambitious SDGs and targets by 2030, we call for increased use of evidence when deciding on education investments. To ensure inclusive and equitable access to quality education for all, we need to work both on generating and using more and better evidence. And the time to act is now.



Introduction

Education is a fundamental human right that is critical to people's well-being. The United Nations' Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) for education emphasises the importance of equitable access to quality education for improving people's lives and sustainable development. Research clearly illustrates the importance of education in different spheres of life. Individuals with high levels of education are more likely to be employed, earn a higher income, overcome economic shocks and maintain healthier families (World Bank 2011). Education also contributes to health equity; it is closely linked to people's access to, experiences of and benefits from healthcare (CSDH 2008). Countries with good education systems do better on indicators of human development such as health status, maternal and infant mortality, lower population growth and reduced crime (Hannum & Buchmann 2003; Hillman & Jenkner 2004; Glewwe 2013).

Governments in low- and middle-income countries (L&MICs) have made significant progress in improving access to education, but challenges still remain. The net enrolment rate for children of primary school age increased from 80 to 91 per cent between 1990 and 2015 (UN 2015). However, improvements in enrolment rates slowed down considerably after 2004. Around 263 million children and youth are still out of school. This number included 61 million children of primary school age (6-11 years), 60 million young adolescents of lower secondary school age (12–14 years) and 142 million youth of upper secondary school age (15-17 years) for the school year ending in 2014 (UIS & GEM 2016). In terms of completion, as of 2008, only two thirds of adolescents in L&MICs finished lower secondary school, a figure that falls to just one third in low-income countries (UNESCO 2015).

Improvements have been uneven among regions and different populations. For example, more than half of the children of primary school age who remain out of school (39.1 million) are in Sub-Saharan Africa (UNESCO 2014). Moreover, girls are still more likely than boys to miss out on schooling. Girls' participation rates remain lower than those of boys in 53 developing countries, with gender disparities particularly pronounced in West Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa (UN 2015). Children from poorer families are also more likely to miss out on education: the probability that children from the poorest quintile of households in L&MICs would not complete primary school in 2010 was more than five times higher than the corresponding probability of children from the richest quintile not doing so (UNESCO 2015). Disparities in access to education are also variable across age groups in different regions. In South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, at least half of all youth are not in school. In South Asia, in particular, youth of upper secondary school age are eight times as likely not to be in school as children of primary age (UIS & GEM 2016).

1.1

Improved access has not led to improved learning

Unfortunately, improved access to education has failed to translate into increased learning in many L&MICs, where studies consistently find low levels of learning outcomes among school children (Pritchett 2013; Robinson 2011; UNESCO 2015). According to the *Education for all global monitoring report* (UNESCO 2014), approximately 250 million children in L&MICs cannot read, write or do basic maths. This number includes more than 130 million children who, despite being enrolled in primary school, have not acquired these basic skills.

These challenges shifted the focus of education policies of major development agencies, such as the UK Department for International Development and the World Bank (World Bank 2011; DFID 2013). Initiatives that traditionally concentrated on improving school access are now increasingly focused on improving learning for all children (Pritchett 2013; Robinson 2011) and on targeting hard-to-reach children. The change in focus is also reflected in the UN's development goals. Millennium Development Goal 2 was to achieve universal primary education, but SDG 4 on education emphasises the improvement of learning outcomes, skills development and ensuring equal access across sexes and vulnerable populations (UN 2015).

To achieve the ambitious SDG education targets by 2030, UNESCO has estimated that the spending per primary school student in low-income countries would need to more than double. Domestic financing for education has been strong (accounting for 86 per cent of education spending in L&MICs) but the shortfall in funding for universal and good-quality pre-primary, primary and secondary education in low- and lower middle-income countries has been estimated to be US\$39 billion per year (UNESCO 2015).

1.2 Education aid is declining

It is particularly worrisome that aid for education is declining. According to estimates made by the Global Partnership for Education, based on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's (OECD) Development Assistance Committee data, aid for basic education fell by almost eight per cent between 2010 and 2013 (GPE 2016). Achieving the ambitious SDG targets will require more investment in education programmes that work.

1.3

Getting evidence to inform more education investments

To make the case for more funding and ensure existing resources are used as efficiently and effectively as possible, we urgently need highquality evidence on the effectiveness of education interventions. Systematic reviews provide one such source of evidence. They use transparent and systematic methods to identify, appraise and synthesise evidence from all relevant studies, to identify both generalisable and context-specific findings. In doing so they aim to provide decisionmakers with unbiased, high-quality evidence to inform decisions.

1.4 About this summary report

This report summarises the findings of a 3ie in-house systematic review (Snilstveit et al. 2015)¹ that we conducted using the Campbell and Cochrane Collaborations' handbooks (Shadish & Myers 2004; Hammerstrøm, Wade & Klint Jørgensen 2010; Higgins & Green 2011; Campbell Collaboration 2015). This summary report is written primarily for policymakers and programme managers to inform their decisions about policies, programmes and further research.

The review being summarised focused on assessing the evidence on the effects of a broad range of different education interventions on the enrolment, attendance, completion and learning outcomes of children in primary and secondary school in L&MICs. It included evidence from impact evaluations to synthesise evidence on effects, as well as from other qualitative and quantitative studies to address the questions relating to process, implementation and context.

The aim of this comprehensive and systematic approach was to move beyond just assessing *what works* and *what doesn't* in improving education effectiveness. By exploring evidence on process, implementation and context, the review also addressed why programmes succeed or fail and for whom. It is the most comprehensive systematic review of education programmes conducted to date, addressing the following questions:

- What are the effects of different education interventions on enrolment, attendance, drop-out rates, completion and learning outcomes for primary and secondary school aged children in L&MICs?
- Do the effects differ among sub-populations (due to sex, age or socio-economic determinants)?
- What intervention designs and implementation features are associated with the relative success or failure of programmes in improving educational outcomes?
- What are the contextual barriers to and facilitators of the effectiveness of educational interventions?

In the following sections, we first describe how we conducted the review and outline the conceptual framework informing the review and the characteristics of the evidence base. In chapters 4 through 6, we discuss the findings from studies of the effects of a broad range of education programmes, organised according to the main settings where they are implemented: households and children, schools and teachers, and systems. Chapter 7 provides a summary of results across the review and outlines implications for policy, programming, practice and research.

Methods

This summary report is written primarily for policymakers and programme managers to inform their decisions about policies, programmes, practice and further research.

2.1

Reporting and interpreting results in this summary report

Most results presented in this report are based on meta-analyses of standardised mean differences (SMDs; Cohen's d) calculated using data from the included studies. Converting effect estimates into this common metric is the only way we can make comparisons across the broad range of measures and scales used by different researchers to measure similar outcomes. While interpreting the magnitude of effect sizes, we use the term 'small' to describe overall effects that are close to zero. However, when an effect is described as relatively large, this should be interpreted in the context of the effects observed for other programmes in the review.²

Box 1: Categories for reporting on the results of this summary

What works in most contexts?

More than six studies, with the average effective size relatively large in magnitude.

What is promising (may work in some contexts)?

a) Few studies (2–4), with the average effect size relatively large in magnitude

b) More studies (4–10), with the overall effect size relatively large in magnitude, but with some imprecision.

What doesn't always work?

More than six studies, with the average effect size suggesting small or negative effects, with evidence of negative effects in some contexts.

What is unknown?

a) Two studies or fewer available

b) Few studies (2–4) with average effect small in magnitude, but with a large amount of variation.

The categories in Box 1 below provide the framework we used for interpreting and presenting the results of the systematic review. They are adapted from Sherman *et al.* (2002) and are based on a combination of the number of impact evaluations, the magnitude of the overall effect and precision (confidence) of the estimates. Using this framework provides a basis for presenting and interpreting the results of the analyses in a consistent way throughout the report.

2.2

How is this review different from other systematic reviews on education?

Over the last decade, several authors have reviewed the education literature with the aim of synthesising the evidence on the effects of education interventions (for example Petrosino *et al.* 2012; Baird *et al.* 2013; Morgan, Petrosino & Fronius 2013; Glewwe *et al.* 2011; McEwan 2015; Glewwe & Muralidharan 2015; Masino & Niño-Zarazúa 2015). A recent 3ie evidence gap map identified 21 systematic reviews of interventions for improving primary and secondary education outcomes in L&MICs (Snilstveit *et al.* 2015a). While the evidence gap map shows that there are a number of well-conducted systematic reviews in the sector, it also highlights that many of the existing systematic reviews suffer from limitations related to scope and/or method.

Many of the reviews focus on selected education interventions, or review only restricted outcomes. For example, some only assess the effects of programmes on enrolment, attendance and completion, while others examine only learning outcomes. Some reviews focus on studies with specified research designs (such as randomised controlled trials, RCTs), which limits the number of included studies. Finally, the majority of existing systematic reviews do not use statistical meta-analysis to synthesise findings. Other synthesis methods, such as vote counting, rely on counting the statistical significance and direction of effects based on estimates reported in individual studies, without taking the size of the effect into account. Meta-analysis is a systematic and transparent approach to the statistical synthesis of standardised estimates from individual studies to estimate an overall average effect across a number of similar studies (Borenstein et al. 2009). It increases the statistical power of the analysis and allows the analyst to identify findings that are both generalisable and context specific.

The review on which this report is based attempts to address these limitations and does not draw on the analyses done in the other systematic reviews. However, studies included in these reviews that met our selection criteria were included in our review. The review includes studies of a wide range of education interventions that were selected based on predetermined selection criteria (see Snilstveit *et al.* 2015 for detailed outline of inclusion criteria).³ We included impact evaluations that used experimental and quasi-experimental methods to examine the impact of programmes on several education-related outcomes: enrolment, attendance, drop out, completion and learning (see Box 2 for definitions).

Box 2: Definition of outcomes

Primary outcomes

Enrolment

Students registered for education at the start of primary and/or secondary education or a given grade year.

Attendance

Whether the child of a given school age was reported attending school over a time interval (last day, month or year). Drop out: child who enrolled in school but ceased to attend at some point in the school year.

Completion

Students completing primary and/or secondary education or a given grade.

Learning outcomes

Test scores for the following subjects were included as measures of learning: (1) maths, (2) 'language arts', including measures of reading, writing, literacy and language that were either in local or official languages of a country, (3) cognitive and problem-solving skills and (4) composite scores combining scores from more than one subject, including at least one of the measures above.

Secondary outcomes

Teacher attendance

The share of total school days for which teachers were present either in the classroom or in school.

Teacher performance Any measure of teachers' knowledge, practice, motivation or satisfaction. Our review followed a theory-based approach for synthesising evidence. A theory-based approach involves developing a theory of change to chart out how a programme is intended to work and outlining the assumptions behind the theory. This approach helps structure an analysis of intervention effects along the theorised causal chain, adding depth to the synthesis. It also provides a framework for an analysis of intervention design, process and implementation issues that may explain results.

To analyse the programme effects, we conducted a meta-analysis for each intervention area. We also carried out variation and sensitivity analyses to explore the variation in findings for different sub-populations across studies. We conducted over 100 meta-analyses of different combinations of intervention and outcome. Appendix 1 provides an overview of the results of these analyses across the review.

2.3

The conceptual framework for the review

A complex set of social and structural determinants influence children's access to schooling and education quality. Examples of social determinants include ethnicity, the sex of the child, whether parents are in the household and the language used at home. Structural determinants include the distance to school, availability and quality of teachers and a household's ability to cover the cost of schooling. In addition, there may be direct costs, such as school fees, books, school uniforms and transportation, and indirect costs such as the opportunity cost of sending a child to school and parents' time investment (Tikly 2011; DFID 2013). A child's health and nutritional status is also a critical factor influencing the likelihood of their attending school and their ability to benefit from schooling.

To deliver high-quality education, schools need to be equipped with the requisite infrastructure, qualified teachers, teaching materials and pedagogical approaches. At a more systemic level, the governance of educational institutions, national policies and budgets are crucial factors that will influence access to schooling and the quality of education. Finally, context-specific factors also influence several education outcomes. These include socio-cultural attitudes towards schooling in general and the education of girls specifically, local political and socio-economic conditions, and security risks associated with attending school.





To better understand the different ways that education interventions are designed and targeted, we categorised them into five levels: children, households, systems, schools and teachers (see Figure 1). These levels provide a conceptual framework for the review. Figure 1 outlines the main pathways through which interventions can influence education outcomes.

The framework is helpful in mapping out the nature of causal links between each component or aspects of an intervention and its outcomes. In an example of a child-level intervention, a school-feeding programme aims to provide students with the nutrition they need to learn. Such interventions may also provide an incentive for parents to send their children to school. The theory supporting the causal link is that better nourished children are less likely to miss school as a result of illness and are better able to concentrate, which in turn potentially affects learning outcomes (Kristjansson *et al.* 2009).

The evidence base

We carried out an extensive search for studies evaluating the effects of different interventions. Figure 2 shows the search and screening process in a Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) diagram.

Figure 2: PRISMA diagram

*Note: The numbers at each stage don't accurately account for excluded records because new studies were added at each screening stage.



The search covered studies published between January 1990 and June 2015. The initial search identified 78,939 potentially relevant citations. The titles and then the abstracts of these citations were screened to shortlist relevant articles. We finally reviewed the full text of over 2000 papers. This led to the identification of 420 papers that met our inclusion criteria, covering 238 impact evaluations examining the effects of 216 unique programmes.⁴ We also drew on 121 qualitative research studies and process evaluations associated with the programmes studied in the impact evaluations.⁵ The number of studies included in this review is larger than that of any other systematic review on this topic conducted to date.

3.1 Distribution of studies is uneven across interventions

The distribution of impact evaluations of education interventions is uneven across different areas. Figure 3 shows this uneven distribution. Interventions such as cash transfers, structured pedagogy and computer-assisted learning programmes have been studied quite extensively. For other programmes, such as school-based health, information to children, teacher interventions, remedial education and school day extension, the evidence is more limited. This is significant because development assistance has been directed to many of these understudied areas.

Figure 3: Distribution of studies across interventions



Figure 4: Map of included studies

Incidence of included studies by country

- 19–27
- 12-19
- 7–12
- 3-7
- Fewer than 3
- No data available

The number of studies included in this review is larger than that of any other systematic review on this topic conducted to date.



3.2

Distribution of studies across regions and countries is also uneven

The geographic distribution of studies is also uneven, particularly within regions (see Figure 4). The 238 included impact evaluations across 52 L&MICs. This included 59 studies from Sub-Saharan Africa, 38 from East Asia and the Pacific, 87 from Latin America and the Caribbean and 51 from South Asia. We identified only two studies conducted in the Middle East and North Africa and one from Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States. Countries where several studies have been conducted include Brazil, Chile, China, India, Kenya, Mexico, South Africa and Uganda. For most countries in Sub-Saharan Africa we identified few or no studies. It is also notable that evidence from several countries with large populations, such as Indonesia, Nigeria and Bangladesh, is limited or non-existent.

3.3 Distribution of studies across impact evaluation methods

Over 50 per cent of the included impact evaluations were cluster RCTs and eight per cent were RCTs (where assignment was randomised at the individual level) (see Table 1). Twenty-four per cent of the studies used a controlled before and after evaluation design, with estimation strategies, such as difference-in-difference and propensity score matching to control for potential selection bias. The remaining studies used natural experiment and regression discontinuity designs.

Table 1: Study designs

Study design	Number	Per cent of total
Cluster randomised controlled trial	122	51%
Controlled before and after	56	24%
Regression discontinuity design	25	11%
Randomised controlled trial	19	8%
Natural experiment	16	7%



3.4 Distribution of studies across outcomes

The most frequently reported outcomes are maths test scores (126 studies), followed by language test scores (114 studies) as shown in Table 2, below. Few studies assessed cognitive outcomes (13 studies), and those that did were primarily about school-feeding and school-based health interventions.⁶ The most frequently reported school participation outcomes were enrolment (74 studies), attendance (68 studies) and drop out (46 studies). Few studies included in the review provided any analysis of sub-populations, including factors such as sex or socio-economic status, or measured the long-term effects of programmes. Box 2, on page 8, provides definitions of all outcomes.

We now move on to presenting the results of the analyses of the effectiveness of different education interventions. Chapter 4 summarises findings for child- and household-level interventions, Chapter 5 presents the findings on school- and teacher-level interventions and Chapter 6 summarises the findings on education system interventions.

Table 2: Outcomes reported in studies

Primary outcomes	Number	Per cent of total
Maths	126	29%
Language arts	114	26%
Enrolment	74	17%
Attendance	68	15%
Drop out	46	10%
Cognitive outcomes	13	3%

Children and households





In this section, we look at education interventions that are targeted directly at households and children. Such interventions are primarily demand driven, and address education-related barriers and constraints faced by households and children.



4.1 Improving children's health and nutrition

Well-nourished children who are free from disease are better able to participate in school and learn. Conversely, micronutrient deficiencies and diseases, such as malaria and worm infections, can affect children's performance in the classroom. Evidence suggests that ill health and malnutrition have serious negative effects on education outcomes (Bundy 2005; Glewwe & Miguel 2008; Jukes, Drake & Bundym 2008).

In this section, we assess the evidence for programmes that address the constraints that children face due to poor health and malnutrition. School-feeding programmes can alleviate short-term hunger and address micronutrient deficiencies. They can also work as an indirect income transfer to parents: by reducing the cost of sending a child to school, it is thought these programmes also incentivise school enrolment and attendance. School-based health interventions are thought to have the potential to improve school performance by reducing absence due to illness and thereby increasing the total amount of time a student spends in school. This additional attendance, as well as improved learning abilities while the student is in school, may in turn lead to improved academic achievement.

4.1.1 School-feeding

Nearly every country in the world has some form of school-feeding programme in place (WFP 2013). These programmes typically provide children with a meal or snack at school (in-school feeding) or to take home. They vary in terms of the timing of the meal, nutritional content and local implementation arrangements.

Food provided through these programmes is sometimes fortified with essential minerals or vitamins to tackle multiple nutritional deficiencies (Bundy *et al.* 2009). Organisations such as the World Food Programme (WFP) have made a case for micronutrient fortification to always be an integral part of school-feeding if there is a demonstrated need (Bundy *et al.* 2009). Researchers and programme managers have also argued for school-feeding programmes to adopt an integrated approach that combines health, nutritional and educational components to increase their effectiveness (Powell *et al.* 1998; Jomaa, McDonnell & Probart 2011).

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies that evaluated 15 schoolfeeding programmes implemented in Argentina, Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, Guyana, India, Jamaica, Kenya, Laos, the Philippines, Peru, Senegal and Sri Lanka. All of these programmes targeted primary school children. Two studies evaluated the largest school-feeding programme in the world, the Indian Midday Meal Scheme (Afridi, Barooah & Somanathan 2014).

All of the programmes included an in-school feeding component. The WFP feeding programmes in Burkina Faso and Laos also included an additional treatment group who received take-home rations. In Cambodia, the WFP school-feeding programme also introduced take-home rations for girls alongside the in-school feeding, and later provided deworming and complementary health activities.

What have we learned?





- School-feeding is one of the few interventions that shows promise for improving both school participation and learning (see Figure 5). For example, both language arts and attendance improved by 4.5 per cent overall. The overall effect on enrolment is positive but imprecise. However, in some contexts, such as Burkina Faso, Cambodia and Guyana, programmes clearly increased school enrolment. The effects on student drop out and school completion are less clear, because few studies measure these outcomes. A WFP feeding programme in rural Senegal that provided hot lunches through canteens in primary schools had a substantially large effect on reducing drop-out rates (Diagne *et al.* 2014).
- The effect of school-feeding was stronger in areas where there was high food insecurity and low participation in schools. This finding is based on evidence from programmes that were implemented in diverse contexts, including Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Guyana and Jamaica. For example, the Hinterland Community-Based School Feeding Programme in Guyana (Ismail, Jarvis & Borja-Vega 2012) had consistently positive effects on school participation and learning outcomes. This programme was implemented during the global food price crisis of 2007-08, when there was a documented increase in food insecurity for poor families in Guyana. In this context, the feeding programme met a clearly defined need and represented an important income transfer to poor families. Local community involvement was a condition for receiving the programme. Schools and communities had to submit a proposal to receive funding for the programme and participate in training in financial administration, food hygiene and nutritious meal preparation. Schools were required to purchase food produce for the meals from local farmers.
- School-feeding programmes may not have as much of an effect in areas where malnutrition is not prevalent. The effects on school participation of the Programa de Alimentación Escolar feeding programme in Chile were found to be small or non-existent. This is not surprising considering extreme malnutrition has been eliminated in Chile and school enrolment rates are already high (Altman 2013; McEwan 2013). Similarly, in Sri Lanka, enrolment was already high in the part of the country where WFP implemented a feeding programme. The observed effects on enrolment are close to zero (He 2010).
- Local ownership and an integrated approach to feeding may facilitate improved outcomes. Qualitative evidence for process and implementation from the two feeding programmes in Guyana and Sri Lanka suggests that local ownership over the programme can have a positive effect on education outcomes. For the welfare programme in Sri Lanka (He 2010), the implementation of school-feeding, and decisions about the programme, rested with the local community. The locally implemented programme had larger effects on enrolment than the programme that was centrally implemented by WFP. Similarly, in the case of the Hinterland Community-Based School Feeding Programme in Guyana, implementation of the feeding programme was left entirely up to local communities, supported through funding and training to community members (Ismail, Jarvis & Borja-Vega 2012). The programme led to improvements in participation and learning outcomes that were consistently larger in magnitude than other programmes.

Figure 5: School-feeding may improve both school participation and learning

- Upper and lower confidence intervals
- Average (standardised mean difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of school-feeding for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a metaanalysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analysis, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent confidence interval (CI). Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.



4.1.2 School-based health programmes

With greater awareness of how children's ill health and malnutrition interferes with their participation and learning in school, school-based health interventions have received much attention over the last few decades. The consensus framework for Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (known as FRESH), developed jointly by UNESCO, World Health Organization (WHO), UN International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF), the World Bank and Education International, describes health as 'an input and condition necessary for learning, as an outcome of effective quality education and as a sector that must collaborate with education to achieve the goal of Education for All.' (Bundy *et al.* 2006).

School-based health programmes can cover both the prevention and treatment of disease and malnutrition in a school setting. Treatment services include deworming for intestinal worms and schistosomiasis, as well as integrated malaria treatment and prevention programmes. Prevention interventions may include provision of micronutrient supplements or eye tests followed by provision of eye glasses.

Effective school-based health programmes are also broadly considered to be cost-effective. They build on existing health infrastructure and community partnerships, as well as a skilled workforce in schools (UNICEF 2000). Deworming programmes, in particular, have been marketed as the 'best buy for development' as they are inexpensive and considered beneficial for improving health and school attendance (J-PAL 2012). As a consequence, aid agencies and global initiatives have invested millions of dollars in national school-based mass deworming programmes.



What is the evidence base?

We identified studies evaluating 16 school-based health programmes. Five of these programmes were implemented in China, three in Kenya, three in Sri Lanka, and one each in Guatemala, Jamaica, Malawi, the Philippines and Zambia. The programmes cover a diverse set of interventions, some combining several different health services.

Seven programmes provided micronutrient supplementation, six included school-based deworming, four included malaria prevention and control, one evaluated the provision of eye glasses and one provided incentives for anaemia reduction. The School Health and Nutrition Programme in Zambia, the school-based deworming and iron supplementation in Sri Lanka and the School Health and Nutrition Program in the Philippines all provided a combination of deworming and micronutrient supplementation (Grigorenko *et al.* 2007; Ebenezer *et al.* 2013; Jukes *et al.* 2014).

School-based health programmes are widely implemented, but there is a lack of evidence on the effects of each type of service.

Our results indicate that providing these health services has mostly been beneficial for students, but on average the effects appear small, with large variation across contexts. While we identified studies of 16 different school-based health programmes, these are spread across five different intervention types and eight different outcomes.⁷ Within each of these different intervention types, few studies report effects on the same outcome. Therefore, the findings are based on a small number of studies and all results should be interpreted with caution.

Despite their popularity, evaluations of deworming programmes suggest only small, if any, observable educational benefits for children receiving such programmes. There is an improvement in attendance for children participating in deworming programmes in Sri Lanka (Ebenezer *et al.* 2013) and Kenya (Miguel and Kremer 2004), but not in Guatemala (Watkins, Cruz and Pollitt 1996) and Jamaica (Simeon et al. 1995). Results for learning are likewise inconclusive.

Malaria prevention and control programmes have beneficial effects on education outcomes for participating children in some contexts. Improvements in nutrition outcomes are relatively consistent across programmes, but effects on learning are less consistent. A malaria prevention and control pilot project in Sri Lanka had substantial positive effects on learning outcomes (Fernando *et al.* 2006), but the Health and Literacy Intervention had a negative effect on learning in Kenya, as measured by spelling and maths (Brooker & Halliday 2015).

Similarly, micronutrient supplementation had beneficial effects on nutrition and learning in some contexts and negative or no effects in others. Two primary school micronutrient supplementation trials in China – one providing multi-vitamins to grade 4 students (Luo *et al.* 2012) and one providing iron supplements to grade 4 students (Wong *et al.* 2014) – had larger impacts on nutrition and maths tests scores than other similar programmes. Aside from reported high rates of compliance, it is not clear why these programmes were more successful in improving education outcomes.



Implementation issues have influenced the outcomes of some school-based health programmes.

The adverse impacts of the Health and Literacy Intervention malaria control programme in Kenya are attributed to a combination of high rates of malaria reinfection and issues related to implementation. Many teachers felt that delivering the malaria control programme was disruptive and beyond the scope of their regular work (Brooker & Halliday 2015). In contexts where school resources are limited, an additional emphasis on implementing school-based health interventions could draw school staff away from education-related activities.

Unforeseen events and circumstances disrupted the implementation of a few of these programmes. This may in turn have influenced the impact of these interventions. In the Philippines for instance, there was a series of issues that hindered children's participation in school during the deworming and supplementation RCT, including an oil spill that caused many of the students to experience dizziness, headache and respiratory problems. Heavy rains also made many schools inaccessible. The programme had no positive effects on nutrition or test scores (Jukes et al. 2014). In the case of the Gansu Vision Intervention Project, the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) epidemic of 2003 resulted in a delay in the implementation of the project by a year (Glewwe, Park and Zhao 2014).



4.2 Merit-based scholarships and incentives

Merit-based scholarships and incentives aim to improve learning outcomes by rewarding students based on their academic performance. Students are offered scholarships, one-off cash payments or prizes as an incentive for improving attendance and increasing their study efforts.

Incentives are considered to be more effective than other interventions because they directly target children, rather than parents, caregivers or teachers. In contexts where staying in school involves a considerable opportunity cost, scholarships are seen as an incentive for children to stay in school instead of working (Liu *et al.* 2013; Yi *et al.* 2015). As is the case with other financial incentives, scholarships are also thought to increase parental involvement in education through their increased monitoring of schools and teachers (Kremer, Miguel & Thornton 2009)

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of 10 programmes in Benin, Cambodia, China, India, Kenya, Mexico and Nepal. In most of these programmes, some kind of incentive, usually cash, was paid directly to the student. There was only one programme where the scholarships for children were transferred to the school. Some scholarship programmes were more competitive, offering a limited number of awards for top-scoring students. The rest of the programmes offered rewards to all the students who achieved a certain predetermined grade, either in one particular subject or an average score across all subjects. Programmes also varied in terms of whether they assessed performance of the individual student, class or some other assigned group.

What have we learned?



- Merit-based scholarships and incentives are promising for improving learning outcomes. Overall, such programmes improve maths and composite scores, as well as cognitive outcomes. Effects on language arts are also positive overall, but the estimate is imprecise and based on few studies. Effects on school participation outcomes are not clear because of the lack of evidence on these outcomes.
- Scholarships and incentives can lead to an improvement in student effort and motivation. Student effort has been measured using indicators such as time spent on studying or reported enjoyment of studying. In Cambodia, there was an increase in the amount of time students spent studying outside the school (Barrera-Osorio & Filmer 2013). Similarly, in Mexico, students spent more time studying mathematics and were significantly less likely to text or watch television while doing homework (Behrman *et al.* 2012).
- Evidence from a few studies suggests that providing incentives to groups of students may be more effective than offering them to individuals. In China, pairing a high achiever and a low achiever as bench mates and offering them both incentives for learning improved the test scores of low achievers without harming the high achievers. Offering only the low achievers incentives for learning, however, had no effect (Li et al. 2014). In Benin, teams that had to compete with each other to win a prize performed better than either individuals or teams who were offered cash rewards for achieving a specified performance standard. Offering incentives to groups may have prompted the high achievers to help the low achievers boost the performance of the group (Blimpo 2010).

4.3

Lowering the cost of education

Interventions targeted at households – such as cash transfers, merit-based scholarships and removing user fees – are designed to improve access to education by reducing the costs associated with participating and learning in school.

4.3.1 Cash transfers

Cash transfers are social safety net programmes that provide funds directly to mothers, households or children. Cash transfer programmes are very popular in Latin America, and are now being implemented in many countries. According to the World Bank (2015), 718 million people are enrolled in cash transfer programmes.

The main causal mechanism through which cash transfers are thought to affect education outcomes is through the removal of financial barriers to education (Miller & Tsoka 2012). By providing families with additional funds, cash transfers aim to increase school enrolment and attendance, and reduce the risk of children dropping out of school, by decreasing the direct costs (such as uniforms and textbooks) and indirect costs (such as loss of income) of schooling.

Broadly, cash transfer programmes are typically classified into two categories: conditional cash transfers and unconditional cash transfers. Conditional cash transfers transfer money to households or children contingent on certain behaviour, such as school enrolment or attendance above a certain minimum number of days. Unconditional cash transfers also involve a money transfer, but they do not come with any explicit conditions (Baird, McIntosh & Özler 2010). In practice, cash transfer programmes do not fall neatly into this binary distinction, but are rather spread across a continuum. Examples include transfers without any conditions; unconditional labelled transfers, where participants are explicitly told that funds are to be used for education; conditional transfers, where transfers are not monitored or enforced; conditional transfers where the conditions are monitored imperfectly and with little enforcement; conditional transfers where school enrolment is monitored and enforced; and conditional transfers where school attendance is monitored and enforced (Gaarder 2012; Baird et al. 2013).

The evidence from 50 studies suggests that cash transfer programmes have had consistent and substantive positive effects on school participation outcomes.

The question of whether conditions should be tied to cash transfers has been the subject of considerable global debate. The proponents for unconditional cash transfers argue that cash is the key constraint for poor people and that the poor do not lack the knowledge to decide what is best for them (Baird et al. 2013). On the other hand, conditionality is thought to be particularly effective in low-income settings, where parents may not consider their children's education to be a high priority (Akresh, De Walque & Kazianga 2013). There is also the political economy argument that taxpayers may be less averse to paying for cash transfers that reward specific behaviours instead of just giving handouts (Fiszbein & Schady 2009). Conditional cash transfers do, however, have a higher cost attached to them because of the resources required to monitor and enforce conditionalities (Benhassine et al. 2013). As a result of these costs, the extent to which conditions are monitored and enforced varies among programmes.

What is the evidence base?

The evidence base for the effects of cash transfers in education is substantial. We identified 50 studies evaluating 38 unique programmes. Approximately half of the programmes evaluated are in Latin America and the Caribbean, with the remaining studies covering programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa, East Asia and the Pacific, the Middle East and North Africa, and Europe and Central Asia.

The majority of the programmes included some kind of conditionality, typically school attendance and enrolment. However, the intensity of the conditionality varied between programmes. For example, approximately one quarter of the programmes monitored and enforced school attendance. Over half of the programmes were targeted at primary and secondary school children, with the remaining programmes focusing only on either primary school or secondary school students. Eight programmes were targeted only at secondary school students. The amount of the cash transfer ranged widely, from US\$20 to US\$1625 per year.



Figure 6: Cash transfers get children to school but do not improve learning overall

• Upper and lower confidence intervals

 Average (standardised mean difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of cash transfers for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a metaanalysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analysis, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent CI. Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.



What have we learned?



- Cash transfers improve school participation outcomes in most contexts. The evidence from 50 studies suggests that cash transfer programmes have had consistent and substantive positive effects on school participation outcomes: school enrolment, attendance, completion and drop out (see Figure 6). Cash transfers have by far the most consistent and robust positive effect on school participation across all intervention areas covered in the review. However, there is a large amount of variability between different programmes. For several programmes, including those in South Africa, Turkey and Tanzania, we observe no effects or negative effects. While our analysis of what may lead to this variability was hampered by small samples, we find indicative evidence that transfer size and tighter monitoring and enforcement of conditions may matter (Snilstveit et al. 2015).
- On average, cash transfers do not appear to improve learning outcomes. In contrast to the large number of studies on school participation, relatively fewer studies measure the effects of cash transfers on learning outcomes. Studies of 11 programmes measured the effects of cash transfers on maths or language arts. Overall, researchers found that the programmes had no effect on either outcome (see Figure 6). This finding is in line with what has been reported by other reviews (Baird *et al.* 2013; Krishnaratne & White 2013).

The lack of effect on learning outcomes is also relatively consistent across the different programmes included in the review. There are a few exceptions, however. Cash transfer programmes improved maths test scores in Colombia, Malawi and Morocco, but the estimates are imprecise. In the case of the Zomba cash transfer programme in Malawi, there also appears to have been a relatively large improvement in cognitive test scores.





4.3.2 Removing user fees

Following the World Education Forum and the establishment of the Education for All movement in 2000, several governments started eliminating or reducing school fees. The School Fee Abolition Initiative, launched by the World Bank and UNICEF, and the Millennium Development Goals also spurred national fee removal policies (Morgan, Petrosino & Fronius 2014). As the payment of school fees was considered a barrier to access to education for low-income households, the elimination or reduction of user fees was believed to be a suitable approach for increasing enrolment and retention (Evans, Kremer & Ngatia 2012). The potential trade-off between abolition of fees and school quality as a result of an increase in demand has, however, remained the subject of debate.

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies evaluating the impact of 10 programmes that eliminated or reduced school fees in China, Colombia, Ecuador, the Gambia, Haiti, Indonesia, Kenya, Nepal, South Africa and Uganda. Eight out of these 10 programmes were implemented by a government agency. All of the programmes either eliminated the fees or reduced them in some way. They covered costs incurred on tuition fees, school uniforms, contributions to parent-teacher associations and field trips. A few programmes included additional components, such as media campaigns, grants for the schools and payments to cover living expenses of children living away from home.

What have we learned?



- The overall effect of programmes that remove or reduce user fees on participation is not clear. Overall effects appear small across measures of enrolment, attendance, drop out, completion and attainment. However, all estimates are imprecise. Apart from enrolment, all analyses are based on only two to four estimates per outcome, with considerable variability across different contexts and sub-populations.
- The reduction of user fees may reduce quality of schooling in the short term if additional resources are not made available. The universal primary education reform in Uganda, which started in 1991, abolished fees for all primary grades (Grogan 2008). The sudden increase in enrolment led to shortages of teachers and textbooks. Classrooms were reported to be overcrowded, which in some cases led to the creation of multiple school shifts during the day. However, investments in teacher education, textbooks and school construction in subsequent years markedly improved the resources available to students and teachers (Grogan 2008). Similarly, there was evidence of decreased quality in both no-fee and fee-paying schools in South Africa following the implementation of the no-fee policy, as well as increases in class sizes (Nkosi 2011; Garlick 2013).

4.3.3 Providing information to children and parents

Providing information to children and parents about the potential future benefits of education, in terms of income, employment and social status, is suggested to increase school participation and continuation in contexts where families underestimate the actual returns on education (Nguyen 2008). This problem is argued to be most acute for students living in rural, isolated areas or urban slums where there are few examples of similar students going on to higher education (Jensen 2010). One simple means of improving this information gap is to seek statistics about average earnings for each additional level of education. Other interventions make use of role models, who share their experience of education and current achievements with children, with some examples using a combination of channels (Nguyen 2008).

What is the evidence base?

We identified four studies of experimental trials to provide information about the returns on schooling to children and/or parents. These took place in four diverse contexts: China, Chile, the Dominican Republic and Madagascar. All four programmes shared information with children on the returns on education as measured by potential earnings, either via written information or through meetings to present the returns on education (potential earnings) after leaving school. The trial in Chile also provided participants with additional information about available academic scholarships and student loans for further study. The effects of programmes providing information on the benefits of schooling are not clear due to a lack of evidence. The studies report on different outcomes and we are therefore unable to draw conclusions about overall effects on specific outcomes. However, across programmes in Chile, China, the Dominican Republic and Madagascar, school participation outcomes improved. For example, a programme in Madagascar that provided information about the economic returns on education led to relatively large improvements in school attendance (Nguyen 2008), while in the Dominican Republic, a similar programme improved completion rates (Jensen 2010). Evidence on learning outcomes is even more limited, with more uncertainty, although there may be some improvement in test scores.





Schools and teachers

Investments have been made in programmes

that address the constraints schools and

teachers face in their efforts to improve the

classroom environment and consequently children's learning outcomes. Traditionally,

education programmes and policies have

the quantity and quality of schools and

focused on improving outcomes by expanding

teachers. 'Hardware' in the form of buildings

and books has been provided based on the

assumption that 'if we build it, children will

come and learn'. In the past few years, there

has been a gradual shift towards improving

investments in programmes that emphasise

teachers' training. In this section, we assess

the evidence on a range of such programmes

the 'software' of learning, meaning more

pedagogy, curriculum development and

targeted at schools and teachers.

5.1 Structured pedagogy programmes

Structured pedagogy programmes seek to directly address several barriers to learning. These barriers could be in the form of inadequately trained teachers, lack of appropriate materials, curricula and instructional approaches. Structured pedagogy programmes usually combine the provision of both 'hardware' and 'software'. A central element of most interventions is the development of evidencebased curricula and instructional approaches, along with lesson plans and training for teachers in delivering new content and material for students. Evidence-based education, in this case, implies that the curriculum and instructional approaches were designed on the basis of evidence for their effectiveness in experiments. Some programmes also include regular monitoring and mentoring of, and feedback to, teachers on their delivery of the new material.

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of 21 differently structured pedagogy programmes in Brazil, Cambodia, Chile, Costa Rica, Kenya, Liberia, Mali, the Philippines, South Africa, Sudan and Uganda. With one exception, all programmes targeted primary schools. The interventions included different combinations of some of the key components of structured pedagogy programmes. The majority of programmes focused on language, but a few focused on maths or a combination of both maths and language. Two programmes were designed to introduce new pedagogical approaches that were not specific to a given topic.

Figure 7: Average effects of structured pedagogy across all outcomes

- Upper and lower confidence intervals
- Average (standardised mean difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of structured pedagogy for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a metaanalysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analysis, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent CI. Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.

Language 0.35 arts 0.34 0.30 0.25 0.23 Maths 0.20 0.20 0.15 0.14 0.13 Composite 0.10 test scores 0.08 0.08 Student 0.05 0.06 attendance 0.03 0.03 0.00 0.01 -0.02 -0.05



25

- Structured pedagogy programmes have improved learning in most contexts. As shown in the forest plot in Figure 7, we observe relatively large improvements in test scores for both language and maths. The results also vary across studies – some programmes, such as the Primary Math and Reading Rural Expansion Program in Kenya and the School Readiness Programme in Cambodia, produced substantially larger improvements in language test scores than the average (Nonoyama-Tarumi & Bredenberg 2009; Piper, Zuilkowski & Mugenda 2014). Few studies measure school participation outcomes, but where data are available these programmes do not appear to have affected attendance in participant schools.
- An important factor that influences generally positive outcomes is that, by design, most of these interventions have components to address multiple constraints to learning. All of the programmes combine several components that address different constraints in schools, such as the low level of training among teachers, lack of materials and lack of structured content. For example, the Primary Math and Reading Rural Expansion Programme in Kenya combined curriculum-based content in Kiswahili, English and maths with materials for students and teachers, training for teachers to plan and implement lessons, and regular supervision and coaching of teachers by trained tutors (Piper *et al.* 2014).
- Some successful programmes also used school materials that were tailored to their specific context. For example, materials and teaching may be more effective when delivered in children's mother tongues. Many of the programmes emphasised the importance of teaching in the languages children speak at home, instead of the official language of the country. Notably, some of the programmes that had only small effects on learning were either designed or delivered in a national language, rather than the children's mother tongue (Kenya programme reported in He, Linden & MacLeod 2007; Spratt, King & Bulat 2013; Lucas et al. 2014). For example, the Reading to Learn programme in Kenya included training for teachers, head teachers and school management committees, as well as instructional materials and stationery for creating visual aids. The materials were designed to be taught in the children's mother tongues. However, in reality, many teachers used English and even punished children who used the local language (Lucas et al. 2014).

An important factor that influences general positive outcomes is that, by design, most of these interventions have components to address the multiple constraints to learning.

 Where programmes were not successful, inputs may not have been sufficient to address low levels of teacher experience and a lack of resources (He, Linden & MacLeod 2007; Lucas et al. 2014; Kerwin & Thornton 2015). This may have reduced programme effectiveness. An impact evaluation of the Northern Uganda Literacy Project illustrates this issue through a comparison of two versions of a mother-tongue literacy programme. The first version was a full-cost version of the programme, including highly structured content for mother-tongue literacy instruction, teacher's guides with scripts for each lesson, student materials (primers, readers and slates), intensive teacher training by a local NGO and parent and community engagement. In the second version, costs were cut by removing the individual slates for students and by delivering the teacher training through coordinating centre tutors, who are employed by the Ministry of Education and Sports to provide teacher training and supervision across Ugandan primary schools.

The evaluation found that the more intensive programme had large positive effects across most literacy outcomes. The students who received the low-cost version performed worse than the children in the comparison schools on a range of outcomes, including writing. The authors offer a number of reasons for why this may have been the case. Firstly, attendance rates were higher in the more intensive programme. Secondly, the lack of slates in the Ugandan schools may have led teachers to focus on the easier parts of the curriculum, where there was less focus on writing. The curriculum included highly organised lesson plans, with instructions for teaching different literacy skills. Intervention designers presumed that the schools not receiving slates would instead use exercise books for children to practise writing. However, in many cases, such books were not available and teachers used air writing as a replacement, focusing on letters and words. This meant that children in the low-cost programme did not get the writing practice that was part of the curriculum and lesson plans, which may have affected the children's writing skills.

5.2 Targeted attention to students



Over the last decade, the approach of teaching at the student's level instead of using the prescribed curriculum has gained popularity. Several interventions aim to improve learning outcomes by targeting individual students based on their ability and performance in the classroom. Some programmes, such as tracking and grade retention, do this by grouping students by ability. Other programmes, such as remedial education, provide tailored assistance to students who are lagging behind their peers.

5.2.1 Remedial education



Remedial education programmes are structured programmes that are designed to help students who need extra attention to improve their performance in the classroom. These programmes provide remedial instruction that supplements regular classroom teaching in specific subjects. Students who are lagging behind their peers receive more individual attention as they are taught in smaller groups.

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of four different remedial education programmes in Chile, India and Mexico (Banerjee et al. 2007; Cabezas, Cuesta & Gallego 2011; Lakshminarayana et al. 2013; Gutierrez & Rodrigo 2014). The programmes targeted students who had been identified as lagging behind their peers or being from particularly disadvantaged communities. The programmes provided tailored tutoring in core skills, such as numeracy and literacy, typically to groups that were smaller than the usual class. The tutors in the programmes were either volunteers (Cabezas, Cuesta & Gallego 2011; Lakshminarayana et al. 2013; Gutierrez & Rodrigo 2014) or hired from the local community (Banerjee et al. 2007). The tutors were not trained teachers but the programmes offered either some training or supervision.



What have we learned?

Remedial education may improve the tracking of learning outcomes. The evidence from four studies suggests that overall effects can be relatively large, although the results are imprecise. The STRIPES programme in India had much larger effects on all outcomes in comparison to other programmes. STRIPES provided remedial after-school instruction on maths and language to children in government-run primary schools. The lessons reinforced the school curriculum and were tailored to the students' learning levels.

There are two potential reasons for STRIPES having a larger impact. Firstly, the effects of the programmes in Chile and Mexico were measured after very short follow-up periods (two and six months, respectively) (Cabezas, Cuesta & Gallego 2011; Gutierrez & Rodrigo 2014). The follow-up period for STRIPES on the other hand were 21 months. It is therefore not surprising that observed effects for the other programmes were more limited. Secondly, STRIPES appears to have been a more intensive programme than those assessed in the other studies. It was also the only programme that involved a community outreach component. Implementers informed parents in the community about the programme. They encouraged parents to enter into verbal contracts with the implementers to ensure their children attended the additional classes. As part of the programme, children were also provided learning materials (Lakshminarayana et al. 2013).

This example highlights the importance of conducting more studies with sufficiently long follow-up periods. This would help ascertain whether the positive effects of STRIPES can be replicated in other contexts.

5.2.2 Programmes tracking students by ability



Programmes that involve tracking and grouping children by ability have been implemented across a range of countries over the last decade. The main assumption underlying such an approach is that grouping students with similar levels of ability will make teaching more targeted and efficient (EEF 2016). However, there has been a debate about the effects that these types of programmes may be having on more disadvantaged learners (Loveless 2013). The approach has been criticised because grouping children could involve an inadvertent association between student achievement and characteristics such as class, ethnicity and language (Loveless 2013).

What is the evidence base?

We identified two studies evaluating the effect of tracking interventions, in Kenya and India (Duflo, Dupas & Kremer 2012; Duflo & Dupas 2015). In the Indian Learning Enhancement Programme, students were briefly assessed on their Hindi skills at the start of the academic year. They were then taught in groups allocated according to ability for a portion of the school day, regardless of age and grade. In the Extra Teacher Programme in Kenya, schools were provided with an additional teacher, allowing them to split their first grade classes in two. Students were then 'tracked' into each class based on initial achievement.

What have we learned?



Based on the evaluation of two tracking programmes, the overall effects are relatively small on both maths and language test scores. But in the case of the Indian Learning Enhancement Programme there was a larger improvement in students' Hindi test scores, with slightly larger benefits observed for girls compared to boys.



5.3 Providing buildings and books



Many education programmes and policies have aimed to improve outcomes by increasing the quantity of education inputs. The emphasis has often been on the provision of hardware in the form of buildings and books, and in this section we review the evidence on the effects of such programmes.

5.3.1 New schools and infrastructure



New schools and infrastructure programmes involve school construction in areas where there were none previously. They may also focus on the improvement or rehabilitation of existing school infrastructure. There are three main channels through which new schools and infrastructure programmes are expected to improve education outcomes. Firstly, they improve access to schooling by increasing the availability of schools, and reducing the distance to school and travel time for children (Burde & Linden 2009). Secondly, new or refurbished schools may also attract better qualified teachers and reduce teacher absenteeism, particularly if the community is able to provide an adequate and accessible working environment (Levy et al. 2009). Thirdly, by improving the learning environment through better facilities, students' learning experiences and expectations of schooling may improve (Hunt 2008). Potentially, this could lead to higher enrolment and attendance rates and lower drop-out rates. The provision of separate toilet facilities for boys and girls, for example, may be important for ensuring the retention of girls in school (Colclough, Rose & Tembon 2000).

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of seven programmes that provided improved school infrastructure. This included latrine construction in India and Kenya (Freeman *et al.* 2012; Adukia 2014), establishment of new, community-based schools in Afghanistan and Niger (Dumitrescu *et al.* 2011; Burde & Linden 2013) and improved school infrastructure in Bolivia, Georgia and India (Newman *et al.* 2002; Lokshin & Yemtsov 2004; Borkum, He & Linden 2013).

×××

- Programmes for building new schools in Afghanistan and Niger improved average enrolment and attendance. But improvements were only substantial in Afghanistan, with effects of smaller magnitude observed in Niger. The partnership for Advancing Community-Based Education in Afghanistan specifically aimed to increase girls' participation in primary education by reducing the distance they needed to travel to school. The programme increased school enrolment among both girls and boys, but benefits were substantially larger for girls. The evidence also suggests substantial improvements in maths test scores.
- Construction of latrines improved school participation in both India and Kenya, particularly for girls. The School Sanitation and Hygiene Education programme in India aimed at increasing latrine coverage in schools. The construction of toilets increased enrolment and reduced drop-out rates. The increase in enrolment was particularly substantial for young children. The construction of unisex latrines had a greater impact on pubescent boys than pubescent girls. However, pubescent girls benefited substantially when separate toilets were provided for boys and girls. Safety and privacy concerns of pubescent girls have been highlighted to explain this result (Adukia 2014).

In Kenya, the provision of latrines, as well as a water treatment and hygiene promotion intervention, led to an overall improvement in school attendance. The improvement in attendance was once again found to be particularly substantial for girls (Freeman *et al.* 2012).

5.3.2 Providing school materials



The lack of sufficient and appropriate school materials can significantly affect the performance of education systems. Programmes providing schools with materials such as blackboards, textbooks and notebooks aim to improve education outcomes by addressing supply determinants of educational quality (Farrell & Heyneman 1989; Glewwe & Miguel 2008; Hunt 2008). Such programmes may improve outcomes in a number of ways. Increased availability of learning materials can help children engage with the curriculum and promote self-study. They can also improve the quality of teaching by assisting teachers in delivering their lessons (Krishnaratne & White 2013). Finally, additional materials may increase expectations from schooling among students and parents. This could increase motivation to enrol, stay in school or attend classes more often (Hunt 2008).

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of four programmes that provided materials to schools in India, Kenya and Sierra Leone (Glewwe *et al.* 2004; Glewwe, Kremer & Moulin 2009; Das *et al.* 2013; Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014). These programmes either provided learning materials directly to the school, or they gave a grant to the school to purchase learning materials. For example, a programme in Sierra Leone provided a set of core textbooks to every child (Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014), while the programme in India provided a per-pupil school grant to be spent on materials used directly by pupils (Das *et al.* 2013).⁸





The results suggest a relatively consistent pattern of no effects on learning outcomes, as measured by maths, language and composite test scores. In the case of the Schools Assistance Programme in Kenya, there was a negative effect on maths test scores (Glewwe, Kremer & Moulin 2009). Similarly, the government-run textbook programme in Sierra Leone failed to have any impact on students' learning outcomes. The programme did however appear to have improved teachers' performance and student attendance, particularly for older girls. The study authors suggest that the enhanced access to textbooks may have made teaching easier and increased teachers' motivation (Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014).

Textbooks and writing materials are widely assumed to be essential in supporting children's learning. So, why do programmes that are focused on providing materials have a limited effect on learning outcomes?

The evidence suggests that many of these programmes experienced implementation challenges. For different reasons, the distribution of textbooks among students did not meet the programme goals in India, Kenya and Sierra Leone (Glewwe, Kremer & Moulin 2009; Das *et al.* 2013; Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014).

In Sierra Leone and India, many schools did not receive the textbooks that were due to be provided as part of the programmes (Das *et al.* 2013; Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014). There were also reports in Sierra Leone that a large share of the textbooks was often kept in storage and not distributed to students. School administrators who did not expect to receive the textbooks were more likely to store them as they were uncertain if the supply of books would be sustained in the future (Sabarwal, Evans & Marshak 2014). In Kenya, there were reports that some schools used the grants meant for textbooks on other investments, such as classroom construction (Glewwe, Kremer & Moulin 2009).

Materials that are provided to students may not contribute to their learning if they are not appropriately customised for students. In Kenya, the textbooks were in English, which for most students was their third language, and the textbooks were therefore too difficult to comprehend (Glewwe, Kremer & Moulin 2009).

The four programmes reviewed in this section focused on increasing the supply of materials, without addressing other constraints to learning. Other programmes that have more promising effects on learning outcomes, such as structured pedagogy and remedial education, also provide materials. But in these cases, materials are part of a package and typically integrated with a tailored curriculum. In contexts with a range of constraints, such as low baseline learning levels and poorly trained teachers, materials are a necessary but not sufficient condition for children's learning.




5.4 Computer-assisted learning



Computer-assisted learning programmes use laptops or computer labs as tools to support children's learning. They are sometimes delivered as an integrated package that includes new content and instructional approaches, as well as training for teachers in delivering this material. In other cases, the focus is simply on providing children with access to computers or laptops.

At the crux of this debate is how to move beyond thinking that technology can be the 'magic bullet' to improve education outcomes. Computer-assisted learning programmes have become increasingly popular in recent years. For instance, more than 11 million laptops have been distributed to children in the Latin American and Caribbean region alone (Severin & Capota 2012 cited in Ortiz & Cristia 2014). The non-profit organisation One Laptop Per Child has worked with governments to distribute laptops in several countries, including Argentina, Ethiopia, Mexico, Mongolia, Peru, Rwanda and Uruguay (OLPC n.d). But the provision of low-cost computing devices to students, particularly as part of large-scale national programmes, has been the subject of considerable debate among policymakers, programme managers and academics. At the crux of this debate is how to move beyond thinking that technology can be the 'magic bullet' to improve education outcomes.

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies assessing the effects of 16 different programmes implemented in a range of countries, including Chile, China, Colombia, Ecuador, India, Mexico, Nepal, Peru and Uruguay. The programmes provide different combinations of intervention components, such as laptops or computer labs, training for teachers and new content.



Overall, computer-assisted learning programmes Many programmes experienced technological have had decidedly mixed effects. They have not generally had positive effects on language arts and composite test scores (see Figure 8). The effects on maths test scores are more encouraging, but there is a lot of variation between programmes. The few studies that had data on participation outcomes suggest small, if any, positive effects.

Computer-assisted learning is one of the few interventions for which we also observe substantive negative effects in some contexts. For example, the Gyan Shala in-school programme in India (Linden 2008), a maths programme in Costa Rica and the One Laptop per Child programmes in Nepal and Peru (Cristia et al. 2012; Sharma 2014) reduced maths and/or language test scores among the children participating in these programmes. A combination of factors related to intervention design and implementation explain these findings.

Programmes where computer-assisted learning substituted for other lessons were more likely to produce negative outcomes. We do not observe negative effects for all of the computer-assisted learning programmes that substituted normal school hours with computer-assisted learning. However, all of the programmes that had negative effects used computer-assisted learning instead of other approaches. An impact evaluation of the Gyan Shala programme in India found that the variant of an in-school programme that substituted for a regular three-hour session in the ordinary school curriculum had substantial negative effects on language, maths and composite test scores. However, when computer-assisted learning was offered as an additional session out of school, students benefited from them guite substantially (Linden 2008). However, if the computer-assisted lessons are of a lower quality than the lessons they are replacing, they may have a negative impact on children's learning.

- problems, including insufficient, damaged and/or dysfunctional equipment, lack of electricity and internet access. A range of technological problems affected programmes in Chile. Colombia. Mexico, Nepal, Peru and Uruguay. Most schools that were part of the impact evaluation of the One Laptop Per Child programme in Nepal, for instance, reported that it took at least five weeks to repair laptops. The delays in maintenance may have dissuaded teachers from regularly using these laptops in classrooms (Sharma 2014).
- In many cases, the new technology was not integrated into existing learning approaches. The use of laptops and relevant software were reported to either be minimal or unrelated to the curriculum. In some programmes, computers were not provided with educational software linked with the curriculum. The One Laptop Per Child programme in Peru, for example, took a non-prescriptive approach in terms of how the laptop could be integrated with teaching activities. The laptops came pre-installed with a set of standard applications, games, music and programming, but insufficient training was provided to teachers on how the laptops could be used as part of pedagogical practices (David and Quispe 2013). Qualitative research showed that some of the teachers felt that using computers during regular, non-computer-oriented classes was a hindrance because it required instructors to simultaneously teach students how to use the computer and the course material (Villanueva-Mansilla & Olivera 2012).
- The lack of integration of computer-assisted learning with teaching has also meant that students are not always using the laptops for the intended purposes. The impact evaluation of the One Laptop Per Child programme in Nepal showed that, although the majority of the students (93 per cent) reported being able to use the laptops, only two thirds of grade 4 and 5 students reported using the laptops to read the educational materials developed as part of the programme (Sharma 2014). Similarly, the students in Uruguay were mainly using the laptops provided by the Plan Ceibal programme for searching for information on the internet (de Melo, Machado & Miranda 2014).

Figure 8: Average effects of computer-assisted learning across all outcomes

- Upper and lower confidence intervals
- Average (standardised mean

difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of computer-assisted learning for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a meta-analysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analyses, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent CI. Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.



Teachers were not always given sufficient training on using the laptops as a teaching aid. In Nepal, Peru and Uruguay, the lack of training to use laptops as part of teaching was considered a major reason for there being no effect on learning. In Uruguay, training was optional for teachers, except those who were involved in the implementation of the programme (de Melo, Machado & Miranda 2014). Twenty-five per cent of the teachers in the Nepal study reported not taking the training and a vast majority did not attend the refresher training (Sharma 2014).

The One Laptop Per Child pedagogical support pilot programme in Peru focused on improving the teacher's ability to integrate laptops into their lesson plans, but it did not have lasting effects. While a positive effect on teachers' computer skills and laptop use for lessons was observed in the third week after the programme, the effect faded after two years (Humpage 2013). The evidence for teacher training suggests that, while the implementation of training is an issue, programme designs need to also consider teachers' workloads, as well their attitudes and motivation for making radical changes to the way they teach.

Computer-assisted learning programmes can improve learning outcomes, in particular for maths test scores. In a number of contexts, including China (Lai et al. 2011; Lai et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2013; Mo et al. 2014), Chile (Imbrogno 2014), Ecuador (Carillo, Onofa & Ponce 2010), India (Banerjee et al. 2008; Linden 2008) and Mexico (Imbrogno 2014), computer-assisted learning programmes have improved maths test scores quite substantially. The programmes where computer-assisted learning improved outcomes share a number of characteristics. Firstly, they were all focused on maths as a subject, with the majority of the programmes providing new content in addition to the computers or laptops. Secondly, most were pilots implemented by researchers or NGOs, rather than large-scale government programmes. And finally, the follow-up periods were relatively short for most of these interventions: all but two studies had follow-up periods of fewer than 12 months.

Programmes investing in teachers

Programmes that target teachers are designed to improve teachers' qualifications, skills, knowledge and commitment. They may also aim to increase the supply of teachers to reduce the pupil-teacher ratio. Teacher incentives, teacher hiring, teacher training and diagnostic feedback are examples of widely implemented approaches. In this section, we summarise the evidence on the effects of these programmes.

5.5.1 Teacher incentives



Teacher incentive programmes seek to improve the working conditions in schools so that teachers are motivated to come to work and improve their performance. Such interventions take many forms, including direct payments to teachers based on their attendance or on the achievements of their students, and teacher surveillance and monitoring (Glewwe *et al.* 2010; Cueto *et al.* 2008).

What is the evidence base?

We included studies of 10 different teacher incentive programmes in Chile, China, India, Kenya, Mexico, Pakistan and Peru. All 10 programmes provided an incentive or reward to teachers based on their performance. The programmes all aimed at incentivising teacher effort and rewarding excellence, but the designs varied considerably. Some provided individual incentives, while others were group incentive schemes or a combination of both. Most programmes rewarded improvements in student learning outcomes, except in India and Peru, where bonuses were conditional on improved teacher attendance (Cueto *et al.* 2008; Duflo, Hanna & Ryan 2012).

Teachers do not seem to alter their teaching approach and instruction techniques in response to incentives, except for increasing preparatory sessions for tests.



Overall, the effects of teacher incentives on teacher performance and student outcomes have been small. The overall effects range from small negative effects on some measures of teacher performance (use of materials) to no effects on a range of student participation outcomes (student attendance, drop out, completion) and learning outcomes (language arts, composite scores). Maths test scores, where programmes led to a small overall improvement, are an exception.

Effects vary greatly across different programmes. While the average effects show no or very small improvements, there are a couple of exceptions, such as the Seva Mandir Teacher Incentive programme in India and the Mejor Educación a través de más Tiempo en el Aula programme in Peru, where there was some improvement in learning outcomes.

- Teacher incentives may improve teacher attendance if it is an explicit condition for a bonus. The Seva Mandir Teacher Incentive programme (Duflo, Hanna & Ryan 2012), which improved teacher attendance, was specifically designed to incentivise teacher attendance. The Kenyan International Child Support Teacher incentive programme and the randomised evaluation of teacher incentives in Andhra Pradesh, India showed that incentives improved teacher attendance. In these cases, incentives were based on improvements in student learning (Glewwe, Ilias & Kremer 2010; Muralidharan & Sundaraman 2011).
- Incentives linked to student achievement may encourage teachers to 'teach to the test'. The findings suggest that teachers do not seem to alter their teaching approach and instruction techniques in response to incentives, except for increasing preparatory sessions for tests. The evaluation of the Carrera Magisterial suggested that teachers dedicated extra time to test preparation; the study authors hypothesise that this additional effort might have been partly responsible for the positive effects observed in some programmes (Santibañez et al. 2007). These findings align with some of the theories of change for teacher incentive programmes which suggest that teachers may focus on improving the observable measures of their performance that are rewarded.

The lack of improvement in most learning outcomes is not surprising. The evidence on intermediate outcomes suggests that teachers do not improve their attendance or alter their instruction techniques in response to incentives (with the exception of an increased focus on preparing for tests).

5.5.2 Teacher hiring



Teacher hiring interventions are designed to increase the number, quality or motivation of teachers in schools. Some interventions focus on hiring additional teachers to reduce class size and pupil-teacher ratios and decrease the need for multi-grade teaching. Other interventions promote the employment of contract teachers instead of permanent civil service teachers. These programmes are guided by the idea that employing teachers on short-term contracts can be economical and increase incentives for teacher attendance and performance, while still ensuring that teachers are gualified and capable. Other teacher hiring interventions are designed to introduce new hiring and promotion processes for improving the quality of new appointees.

Contract teachers' relative pay and conditions are important determinants of their job satisfaction and possibly of their commitment and performance.

What is the evidence base?

We included studies of eight programmes implemented in India, Kenya, Mexico, Pakistan and Togo. The programmes used a variety of mechanisms to achieve their goals. Two programmes implemented new teacher hiring procedures, four recruited additional teachers for schools and five hired contract teachers with the aim of providing schools with lower paid, but similarly qualified, teachers.



Hiring additional contract teachers may improve student outcomes in some contexts, based on evidence from three studies. The overall effect is relatively small, but this is due to the considerable variation in the effects of different programmes. The Extra Teacher Programme in Kenya led to substantial improvements for some learning outcomes, in particular composite outcome test scores (Duflo, Dupas & Kremer 2012). However, an attempt to replicate this through another programme in Kenya and India failed to show the same results (Bold et al. 2013: Muralidharan & Sundararaman 2013b). The evidence suggests that this may be because the reduction in class size was less than intended, not all vacancies were filled and teachers were often asked to cover other grades or were reallocated within schools (Bold et al. 2013).

Contract teachers may perform better than civil service teachers in some contexts. We included three studies that looked at contract teachers. The overall performance of contract teachers in Pakistan and Kenya, as measured by maths, language and composite outcome test scores of students, was superior to that of their civil service peers. However, in Togo, students of contract teachers performed worse than those of civil service teachers on maths tests (Vegas & De Laat 2003).⁹

What explains these results? The theory behind contract teacher interventions assumes that teachers on contracts are more economical and that they are an equally qualified and better motivated workforce. Contract teachers in all three interventions received less pay and fewer benefits than their civil service peers. Despite these relatively poorer conditions, unemployed teachers in Kenya still actively sought contract teaching positions (Duflo, Dupas & Kremer 2012). Moreover, in Pakistan, contract teachers were still better paid than teachers working in low-cost private schools, and this may have been a motivating factor (Bau & Das 2014). But there is also the danger that poorer employment conditions may result in a 'disgruntled worker effect' that negatively affects performance and the quality of candidates. The evidence presented here suggests that both these scenarios may occur in different contexts, and that contract teachers' relative pay and conditions are important determinants of their job satisfaction and possibly of their commitment and performance. In Togo, contract teachers were paid worse and more likely to report that they received their pay on a very irregular basis than civil service teachers. This may have resulted in less qualified candidates filling vacancies (Vegas & De Laat 2003).

Teacher hiring interventions may also challenge existing teachers and be difficult to implement. The qualitative evidence suggests that teacher hiring interventions are not always easy to implement, as they can threaten existing jobs or provoke opposition because they can mean lower pay, fewer privileges and less job security. In Kenya, the government ended a contract teacher intervention early and acquiesced to union demands to absorb contract teachers into civil service employment (Bold et al. 2013). The authors conclude that contract teacher hiring may be effective on a small scale, but that a large cohort of teachers employed at wages far below levels paid to their civil service peers can be difficult to implement, particularly where teachers are unionised and politicised. Similarly, in Mexico, teacher unions opposed a programme that was changing recruitment procedures so that teachers would be selected based on their achievement in a competitive exam rather than traditional recruitment by a committee (Estrada 2013).

36

Systems



There is an increasing focus on interventions that aim to improve education outcomes through changes to the education system at community, local government, regional government or national levels. Such programmes are primarily related to education management, governance and financing. Policymakers may delegate more decision-making powers to direct service providers, and in many cases make them more directly accountable to children and their parents. Such interventions can also channel government revenues through the private sector, which is seen to be more responsive to the needs of service users. Here we present evidence on the effects of three such types of interventions, namely community-based monitoring, school-based management and public-private partnerships.

6.1



Community-based monitoring

Community-based monitoring interventions provide information about public services and fora for public participation to improve the accountability of service providers, governments and other public bodies to the communities they serve (Westhorp, Walker & Rogers 2013). The ultimate aim is to motivate parents to demand better education and to motivate schools to perform better. Improved school responsiveness may lead to improved teacher attendance, teaching quality, school management or resource allocation in the education sector, which in turn leads to improved learning outcomes for children.

Community-based monitoring interventions are usually centred on an information campaign either to promote awareness of an existing accountability mechanism or to provide information about the current performance of education providers, often through report cards. The campaign is sometimes coupled with capacity-building activities, such as providing monitoring tools, training on how to monitor services or training on how to assess a child's learning. Interventions can involve active parental engagement through meetings in schools or in the village (Banerjee et al. 2010) or less direct approaches such as newspaper or local TV campaigns (Reinikka & Svensson 2007).

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of nine different communitybased monitoring programmes in Brazil, Chile, India, Kenya, Madagascar, Pakistan and Uganda. The programmes are relatively diverse in their design, varying by the type of information provided, the intensity of delivery and delivery mechanisms. For example, a newspaper campaign in Uganda (Bjorkman 2006; Reinikka and Svensson 2007) had the broad ambition of reducing corruption in the education sector by publishing data in national newspapers on the monthly transfers of education grants. Other programmes simply provide information about average school examination results to parents to highlight shortcomings in schools, for example, the disclosure of the National Secondary Education Examination policy in Brazil (Camargo et al. 2012). Four of the programmes incorporated some kind of capacity building, such as training parents to produce a score card, while a programme in Kenya trained parents to monitor teacher attendance and performance.

- Community-based monitoring improves school enrolment in some contexts. However, the effects vary greatly. Effects on other participation outcomes, such as student attendance, completion and drop out is less clear (see Figure 9). Reviewing the results in more detail reveals there are two programmes in particular that are driving the overall positive effect on enrolment: a report card programme in Pakistan (Andrabi, Das & Khwaja 2013) and a newspaper campaign to reduce corruption in Uganda (Bjorkman 2006; Reinikka & Svensson 2007)
- Community-based monitoring improves learning in some contexts. We find that community-based monitoring initiatives can have substantial benefits on student test scores, but that effects vary between contexts and even within the same country. In Kenya, Pakistan and two out of three Indian states, community-based monitoring initiatives substantially improved children's test scores in maths and language arts (Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011; Duflo, Dupas & Kremer 2012; Andrabi, Das & Khwaja 2013). But in other contexts, programmes had negligible or even negative effects on learning outcomes. For example, there was no effect of the Encouraging Participation in Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan programme implemented in Uttar Pradesh in India (Banerjee et al. 2010).

What explains the variance in outcomes across contexts? Qualitative and implementation evidence suggest several factors.

- Parents and education committees had limited knowledge of monitoring institutions. In these kinds of interventions, the knowledge of parents and school committee members in relation to their roles and responsibilities, and the status of education in their area, are important process outcomes. For parents and committees to participate in collective action to improve schools, they must first be aware of the local education situation and what they can do to intervene. In two programmes in India where this process outcome was measured, there was little change in parental and committee knowledge (Banerjee *et al.* 2010; Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011).
- In many contexts, parents' participation in school monitoring activities did not increase. Community meetings to disseminate information were well attended in the four cases where this was measured (Banerjee et al. 2010; Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011; Lassibille et al. 2010; Zeitlin et al. 2012), but this often failed to translate into active participation in monitoring activities. A key intermediate stage in the theory of change is that once parents are empowered with the knowledge and tools to hold providers accountable, they decide to take action and participate collectively in monitoring activities, such as joining a school education committee. However, evidence from the Amélioration de la Gestion de l'Education à Madagascar initiative, the score card programme in Uganda and the two community-based monitoring interventions in India suggest that the programmes did not lead to increases in parents' participation in school management and monitoring (Nguyen & Lassibille 2008; Banerjee et al. 2010; Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011; Zeitlin et al. 2012).

Figure 9: Average effects of community-based monitoring across all outcomes

• Upper and lower confidence intervals

 Average (standardised mean difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of community-based monitoring for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a meta-analysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analyses, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent CI. Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.

Access outcomes Learning outcomes 0.30 Language 0.25 0.25 arts Drop out Maths 0.20 0.22 0.21 0.20 0.20 0.18 0.17 0.15 Completion 0.12 0.10 0.12 0.10 0.09 0.08 0.05 0.06 Enrolment 0.05 0.04 0.00 0.01 0.01 -0.01-0.02 -0.05 Composite scores -0.10 -0.09 -0.09 Attendance -0.15

For parents and committees to participate in collective action to improve schools, they must first be aware of the local education situation and what they can do to intervene.

Community human capital may influence intervention effectiveness. Several of the included programmes were implemented in areas where parents had high rates of illiteracy (Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011; Andrabi, Das & Khwaja 2013; Lassibille 2013), although illiteracy is not consistently reported by authors as a barrier or facilitator. Andrabi, Das and Khwaja (2013) report that, in Pakistan, high rates of illiteracy among parents (37.3 per cent in sample villages) may lead to more involvement in efforts to improve schools, because such parents are less able to increase involvement in their children's education at home. Pandey and colleagues' evaluation of an information campaign in three Indian states found greater improvements in student achievement in villages with low literacy rates. They suggest this is because villages with more illiterate parents have a greater demand for schooling. On the other hand, Lassibille (2013) suggests that wealthier and more literate parents are better able to use the information provided by the report cards, and are presumably better able to monitor school activities.

Lack of teacher responsiveness may be a barrier to improving outcomes. A key assumption at the last stage of the theory of change is that education providers respond to increased parental demand. A community-based information campaign in three Indian states informed parents and school committees of their oversight roles and responsibilities in education. Researchers found that when parents raised concerns regarding their children's learning with teachers, they were frequently met with a negative or angry response (Pandey, Goyal & Sundararaman 2011). Evidence from the programmes in India, Pakistan and Uganda also suggests that the incentive structures for teachers in these contexts may limit their responsiveness to parents' demands, and thus the power of accountability mechanisms.

- Private providers may have stronger incentives to respond to community demands for better education. Limited evidence suggests that the responsiveness of the education providers may vary by school type. Three of the eight programmes covered both public and private schools in Brazil, Chile and Pakistan. The studies in Brazil (Camargo et al. 2012) and Pakistan (Andrabi, Das & Khwaja 2013) found substantially larger improvements in student test scores in private schools following publication of information on school performance. For example, the report card experiment in Pakistan reported large improvements in enrolment and learning outcomes. The programme presented raw test scores of children and schools in a defined 'school market', that is, in schools that would be considered as viable options for a parent living in a given village. Both public and private schools were included in this 'school market'. Separating results by school type, the authors find that effects were larger for private schools that initially performed poorly, with only very small improvements in public schools. Similarly, the Exame Nacional do Ensino Médio policy of publishing school test scores in Brazil improved composite outcome test scores only in private schools (Camargo et al. 2012) and had no effect in public schools.
- Community-based monitoring programmes may not be sufficient to produce sustainable improvements in learning outcomes. By design, community-based monitoring programmes focus on addressing barriers to quality education resulting from information asymmetries and lack of accountability between service users and providers. Addressing these issues may help facilitate better education outcomes. Such programmes may not be sufficient to improve outcomes unless they also address resource constraints (such as lack of trained teachers or sufficient school materials). The newspaper campaign in Uganda (Bjorkman 2006) aimed to address a large shortfall in funding to schools due to leakage of funds before they reached schools. The campaign led to a large increase in the financial resources reaching schools, which may explain the relatively large improvements in student achievement.

Community-based monitoring programmes may not be sufficient to improve outcomes unless they also address resource constraints.

School-based management

6.2



School-based management interventions decentralise authority to the local level, handing decision-making over to school leadership, teachers, parents, students or other community members, with the aim of improving the financing and quality of education services (Barrera-Osorio et al. 2009: Bruns, Filmer & Patrinos 2011). Such interventions typically work through a school committee with authority and responsibility for one or more of the following: budget allocations, staffing, curriculum development, monitoring performance of teachers and students, and procurement of materials and infrastructure development (Barrera-Osorio et al. 2009; Bruns, Filmer & Patrinos 2011). Committees may also devise school improvement plans and receive funds to finance implementation of these plans. The characteristics of such programmes vary widely between countries. Bruns, Filmer and Patrinos (2011) suggest school-based management programmes lie on a continuum from weak to strong, based on the degree of devolution of decision-making power.

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of 12 different school-based management programmes in Brazil, the Gambia, Indonesia, Mexico, Niger, the Philippines, Senegal and Sri Lanka. While there is some diversity in programme design, all programmes evaluated contained some of the main components of a typical school-based management programme as described in the literature (Barrera-Osorio *et al.* 2009). All programmes – apart from introduction of democratic school leadership in the Philippines (San Antonio & Diosdado 2008) and Encouraging School Committee Participation in Indonesia (Pradhan *et al.* 2014) – were implemented by national governments.

In the majority of the included programmes, decisionmaking authority with respect to school operations and funds were transferred to a school management committee. Apart from the Advisory School Council programme in the Philippines (San Antonio & Diosdado 2008) and the Programme for School Improvement in Sri Lanka (Aturupane et al. 2014), all programmes gave school stakeholders some control over funds, although the amount and share of total budget varied. For instance, the Quality Schools Programme in Mexico provided schools with an annual grant over five years while the Comité de Gestion de l'Etablissement Scolaire programme in Niger provided a one-off grant of US\$209 on average per school (US\$1.83 per student). Finally, most programmes included a capacity-building component targeted at different school stakeholders, such as orientation workshops and seminars on financial management, project planning or how to develop school improvement plans.

Figure 10: Average effects of school-based management across all outcomes

• Upper and lower confidence intervals

 Average (standardised mean difference)

Note: This figure provides the results of the meta-analyses of the effects of school-based management for all outcomes where we were able to conduct a meta-analysis. All measures are expressed as SMD (Cohen's d). Each line provides the results of one meta-analyses, showing the average effect and the associated 95 per cent CI. Thus, CI lines that do not cross the horizontal axis in the graph mean that the SMD is statistically significant from zero.



- School-based management programmes do not appear to improve school participation on average, as measured by enrolment, completion and drop-out rates (see Figure 10). This finding is consistent across programmes and outcomes, although the results for enrolment are based on few studies.
- The average effect of school-based management on learning outcomes is small, but there is a large amount of variability in effects across contexts. We were able to examine the effects of school-based management on maths, language and composite test scores using meta-analysis. Overall the results suggest no or small average effects on test scores. One reason for some of the relatively small average effects is the large amount of variation observed for most of our analyses. In some countries including the Gambia, India, Indonesia, Mexico, Niger and Senegal – there may have been negative effects on some groups, although the estimates are imprecise. However, for the Third Elementary Education Project and the Basic Education Sector Reform Agenda (BESRA) programme, both implemented in the Philippines, we observe consistently larger effects than the average, as measured by language, maths and composite test scores (Khattri, Ling & Jha 2012; Yamauchi 2014).
- School-based management programmes led to a substantive improvement in grade completion in Mexico and Brazil, but not on average in Indonesia and Niger. In the Plano de Desenvolvimento da Escola in Brazil, there was an increase in students completing their grade among first to eighth graders. In Mexico, the pass rate for third graders in the Programme to Strengthen and Invest Directly in Schools improved substantively, but for sixth graders there was no difference.
- School-based management programmes do not appear to improve teacher attendance on average. But there is significant variability between contexts. The evidence suggests there was a substantial increase in teacher attendance in the Gambia, whereas in Niger and Sri Lanka there may have been a negative effect. Qualitative feedback from teachers in Niger suggested that they preferred a centralised government and disliked that the communities were in charge of the grant, as it undermined their authority (Beasley & Huillery 2014). In one-teacher schools, attendance improved when parts of the grant were invested in teachers.

What explains the variance in outcomes across contexts? There are several factors.

- Comprehensive school-based management programmes can substantially improve learning outcomes. As was noted above, we observe consistently larger than average effects for the Third Elementary Education Project and the BESRA programme, both implemented in the Philippines (Khattri, Ling & Ja 2012; Yamauchi 2014). Both programmes appear to represent examples of comprehensive school-based management programmes. They included the development of school improvement plans, capacity-building activities and some decentralisation of financial decision-making. The programmes also required schools to develop annual report cards on school performance to be shared with the community at the end of the school year (a feature not included in any other school-based management programme included in this study).
- Implementation issues may have influenced programme effectiveness. For several programmes, grants were not disbursed as intended, with delays to completion of grant disbursement reported for both the Quality Schools programme, Programa Escuelas de Calidad, in Mexico and the Whole School Development (WSD) in the Gambia (Skoufias & Shapiro 2006; Blimpo & Evans 2011). In Mexico, schools also dropped out of Programa Escuelas de Calidad due to changes in leadership; conflict among participating administrators, teachers and parents; and the workload involved in accounting for the grant money.
- Limited capacity of the education system may have been a barrier to improved outcomes. Most school-based management programmes include some change in how resources are allocated, but they do not necessarily provide additional resources. Thus, in contexts with a significant lack of resources, school-based management programmes may not have been sufficient to address the constraints to better education outcomes. For example, in the case of the programme in the Gambia, binding contextual constraints such as low teacher quality and widespread double-shift schools may have reduced the effectiveness of the WSD programme (Blimpo, Evans and Lahire 2015). In Mexico, the authors of the evaluation of Programa Escuelas de Calidad suggest the lack of improvement in student outcomes in some states may be because the departments of education in these states lack capacity to provide support to schools (Murnane, Willet & Cardenas 2006).



- In some cases, school-based management may have placed a too heavy administrative burden on teachers and principals, taking away time spent on pedagogical responsibilities (Murnane, Willet & Cardenas 2006; Khattri, Ling & Jha 2012; Blimpo and Evans 2015). If teachers need to reallocate a significant amount of time to the implementation of different schoolbased management components, they have less time for pedagogical responsibilities and teaching, which might adversely affect student learning.
- Parents were not always able to participate effectively in school management and hold stakeholders accountable. Parents' willingness, authority and capacity to participate in school management are an important prerequisite for parents to hold school stakeholders accountable and help improve school management. Schoolbased management programmes do not appear to consistently increase parents' engagement with schools (Bando 2010; Aturupane et al. 2014; Pradhan et al. 2014). In some cases, such as in Indonesia, Mexico and Sri Lanka, parents' engagement with school management did not improve, whereas in Niger and Mexico parents' engagement with schools did improve (Skoufias & Shapiro 2006; Gertler, Patrinos & Rubio-Codina 2012; Beasley & Huillery 2014; Santibañez, Abreu-Lastra & O'Donoghue2014).

However, even when parental involvement improved it is not clear this translated into school councils being a forum for collaborative planning or shared decision-making (Aturupane et al. 2014; Beasley & Huillery 2014; Santibañez et al. 2014). For example, in the Comité de Gestion de l'Etablissement Scolaire programme in Niger, increased parental participation in and responsibility for school management did not translate into improved school guality. Some aspects of school management improved, such as cooperation between school stakeholders, but overall accountability did not change and spending was often non-educational and directed to profit making (such as for agricultural projects and school festival playgrounds). Challenges in establishing effective parental and/or community engagement in schoolbased management may be particularly pronounced in countries with centralised, hierarchical education systems (Murnane, Willet & Cardenas 2006; Beasley & Huillery 2014).

Existing levels of social and human capital may moderate the success of school-based management. The qualitative synthesis suggests existing levels of social and human capital among school stakeholders may influence the extent to which school-based management interventions lead to improved education outcomes (Snilstveit et al. 2015).

For example, where school committees were educated or had experience in another community organisation, parents increased the monitoring of teacher attendance in response to the grant (Beasley & Huillery 2014). Moreover, baseline adult literacy was found to mediate the effect of the WSD programme in Gambia. The authors suggest the WSD intervention is likely to improve learning outcomes in areas with high baseline human capital, but could be counterproductive in areas where the basic human capital is very low. On the other hand, in the two programmes in the Phillippines where learning outcomes improved, the criteria for receiving the intervention¹⁰ effectively targeted schools in areas with higher human and social capital (Khattri, Ling & Ja 2006; Yamauchi 2014).

- School committees not prioritising learning materials and human resources may have been a barrier to improved learning outcomes. In Mexico and Niger, grants were focused on construction and other material inputs, rather than books, learning materials or teacher training (Skoufias & Shapiro 2006; Beasley & Huillery 2014; Bando 2010). For example, in both the Apoyo a la Gestion Escolar and Programa Escuelas de Calidad programmes in Mexico, programme funds were used for infrastructure improvements, rather than to purchase books and other learning materials (Skoufias & Shapiro 2006; Bando 2010;). Similarly, in Niger the grant was not used on activities likely to improve learning (Beasley & Huillery 2014). In Senegal, there was a larger positive effect for schools in the south of the country, where projects tended to focus on training human resources (teaching and management) compared to those in the north, where priority was placed on the acquisition of school materials (such as textbooks and manuals).
- Programmes may not have been in place long enough to observe improvements. School-based management programmes do not typically involve additional resources, but rather a change in the system of delivering education. Such changes take time to be fully implemented at the school level (Cook 2007) and for those changes to translate into improved outcomes. For example, a meta-analysis of studies of programmes implemented in the United States found that it took around eight years for test scores to improve (Borman et al. 2003). However, none of the programmes assessed here had been in place longer than three years, and four of these had only been in place for one year or less. Delays in implementation were reported, and in Niger the programme was terminated after only one year due to a political coup (Beasley & Huillery 2014). Longer implementation is not automatically associated with better results in our sample, but the two programmes with consistent improvements in test scores had been in place for two and three years (Khattri, Ling & Ja 2012; Yamauchi et al. 2014).



6.3 Public-private partnerships



Public–private partnerships are initiatives where governments contract private-sector partners to operate public schools, or establish voucher programmes that allow students to attend private schools at no or reduced costs (Fielden & LaRocque 2008). Typically, the government develops education policy and provides finances, while private actors (either profit, non-profit or faith-based organisations) deliver services to students (Patrinos, Barrera-Osorio & Guaqueto 2009). Some countries subsidise existing private schools to improve their capacity to educate, while other countries bring in private organisations to manage public schools (Patrinos, Barrera-Osorio & Guaqueto 2009).

Public-private partnerships are thought to improve access to and quality of education through two main mechanisms. Firstly, bringing private sector partners into the schooling system may increase the number of school providers and subsequently improve access to education and school choice (Patrinos, Barrera-Osorio & Guaqueto 2009). Secondly, it is thought competition among private actors may provide incentives for service providers to deliver better quality services and improve institutional accountability towards parents. However, the role of the private sector in providing education is controversial. For example, the recent announcement of the government of Liberia's plans for its primary education to be managed by a private, for-profit firm through a public–private partnership triggered a vigorous debate, with the UN's special rapporteur on education, Kishore Singh, describing the move as an 'attack' on public schools and teachers (Rumney 2016).¹¹

What is the evidence base?

We identified studies of 13 different programmes in Bangladesh, Chile, China, Colombia, Haiti, India, Pakistan and Uganda. The programmes covered both primary and secondary schools, including private for-profit schools, public schools, community and religious schools, and schools run by charitable foundations. All but three programmes targeted low-income or underserved populations. Public-private partnerships improve school participation in some contexts. They have relatively large average effects on school enrolment (9.5 per cent), and to some extent the completion of studies (11 per cent). Public-private partnerships involving per student subsidies to low-cost private schools in particular have had substantial effects on school enrolment rates in low-income settings. This finding is replicated across three programmes in Haiti, Pakistan and Uganda. In all three programmes, the payment covered the full cost of tuition and the payment was made conditional on schools agreeing to not charge students tuition fees. In Haiti and Uganda, the benefits were particularly large for girls in the early grades of primary and secondary school respectively.

The effect on school completion is less certain, with improvements in the tuition waiver programme in non-public schools in Haiti driving most of the overall results. Completion also improved among the students participating in the universal voucher programme in Colombia, although at a smaller rate than in Haiti. In the Universal Secondary Education programme in Uganda, the data do not suggest improvements, but the follow-up period of less than 12 months may be too short to observe an improvement in this outcome. Evidence is lacking on other participation outcomes, such as attendance and drop out; however, in the one case where drop out was assessed the authors suggest a relatively large reduction in drop-out rates among children in the Concession School programme in Colombia.

Public-private partnerships may improve children's learning outcomes, but the overall effect across seven programmes is relatively small in magnitude. Across a range of different variants of public-private partnerships, including low-cost private schools, we observe an overall improvement in test scores, although the magnitude of the effect is smaller than that for participation (two per cent improvement in language arts, 2.5 per cent improvement in maths). But in a few cases, such as the Universal Secondary Education programme (low-cost private school) in Uganda and the universal voucher programme in Colombia, we observe larger improvements in test scores than the average (Barrera-Osorio 2006; Barrera-Osorio et al. 2015). In the case of the Andhra Pradesh School Choice project in India, there were no effects on maths and Telugu (mother language) test scores, but there was a small improvement in English test scores and a relatively large positive effect on Hindi test scores (Muralidharan & Sundararaman 2013a). Analysis by the authors suggest time use may explain these results. The private schools spent less time teaching Maths and Telugu than public schools, and instead prioritised teaching English, science, social studies and Hindi.

- There is some evidence to suggest public-private partnerships schools were of better quality than public schools. Evidence suggests public-private partnerships schools in China, Colombia, India, Pakistan and Uganda provided a better quality of schooling, as measured by a range of outcomes, such as teacher performance, teacher attendance and availability of materials (Barrera-Osorio 2006; Zhang 2009; Barrera-Osorio & Raju 2011; Muralidharan & Sundararaman 2013a; Barrera-Osorio et al. 2015). For example, in both Colombia and India, private schools had better infrastructure, equipment and supplies than public schools. In India, private schools also outperformed government schools on measures of classroom practices, teacher absence and teacher performance (Muralidharan & Sundararaman 2013a), despite having less educated, younger and lower paid teachers. In the Foundation Assisted Schools Programme in Pakistan however, there was an overall increase in the availability of teachers, classrooms and blackboards, but because of the growth in student enrolment, student-teacher and student-classroom ratios did not improve.
- A range of implementation issues may have reduced the effectiveness of some programmes. For example, the cases of the Urban Girls' Fellowship Programme in Pakistan, the Reaching Out of School Children project in Bangladesh and the Programa de Ampliación de Cobertura de la Educación Secundaria in Colombia suggest that a lack of organisational capacity in both government agencies and the implementing partners was a barrier to effective implementation and monitoring (Snilstveit et al. 2015). Reports from both the Bangladesh and Colombia programmes suggest this made it difficult to guard against 'ghost' students. However, it is not clear how these issues influenced final outcomes. In the case of Colombia, we observe some improvements across all outcomes, with particularly large effects on completion.

Conclusion

In the previous chapters, we have presented the evidence on the effectiveness of 216 programmes that reached 16 million children across 52 L&MICs. The results demonstrate there are no 'magic bullets' for ensuring high-quality education for all. However, the results of the systematic review highlight key findings that should inform future education programmes. In this chapter, we summarise the main findings on which interventions appear to work in most contexts, which are promising (but require further testing), which do not always work and where effects are unknown because studies have not been conducted. In addition, we note cross-cutting lessons across intervention areas. The final section outlines implications for policy, programming and research.

7.1 Findings across the reporting categories

Some interventions, such as cash transfers and structured pedagogy, appear to work in most contexts, while the effects of other interventions, including different types of school-based health programmes and reducing school fees are yet unknown due to lack of sufficient studies. Figure 11 draws on the conceptual framework and the categories of reporting presented in Chapter 2 to provide a visual overview of results across the review.

7.1.1 Main findings: children and households

A range of different programmes address barriers and constraints to school participation and learning faced by children and households. These programmes typically aim to address the constraints that children face due to poor health and malnutrition, by providing material incentives for schooling to children and/or parents, or by reducing the cost of schooling. Some programmes, such as school-feeding, are designed to address several of these constraints.

Figure 11: Visual overview of results across the review



These are the main findings on the effects of such programmes:

- Of all the interventions included in the systematic review, cash transfer programmes result in the largest and most consistent improvements in school participation. Such programmes increase school enrolment, reduce drop out and improve completion rates overall. On average, cash transfer programmes do not improve learning outcomes, although some individual programmes show positive results.
- On average, merit-based scholarships (where students, rather than parents, are offered financial incentives to improve attendance and effort) improve learning outcomes. Few studies assessed the effects of these programmes on school participation.
- School-feeding programmes are one of the programmes included in this review that are promising for improving both school participation and learning outcomes, particularly in contexts with high rates of food insecurity and low rates of school participation. School-feeding programmes have limited effect in areas without malnutrition and where school participation rates are already high.
- The overall effects of providing information to children or parents, reducing user fees and implementing school-based health programmes are not clear because there have been few high-quality studies on these interventions.

The results show that programmes addressing child and household constraints to children's education may be particularly effective at increasing school participation. The findings, summarised by programme type, suggest cash transfers are most effective in improving school participation while merit-based scholarships and school feeding have been relatively more successful in improving learning outcomes.

7.1.2 Main findings: schools and teachers



Programmes that address the resource constraints that schools and teachers must overcome in order to improve the classroom environment are particularly important for improving learning outcomes. Such programmes focus on improving the effectiveness of lessons by changing curriculum content and delivery, providing additional materials, introducing new technology and/ or by improving the quantity and quality of teachers through incentives, training or changes in hiring practices. Programmes can also combine these different components. These are the main findings on the effects of such programmes:

Of the interventions included in this review, structured pedagogy programmes have the largest and most consistent positive effects on learning outcomes. Effects on participation outcomes are not clear because few studies measure such outcomes. These programmes typically address several constraints to learning directly, such as lack of appropriate materials, curriculum and poorly trained teachers. In doing so they provide a carefully designed combination of 'software' and 'hardware' components.



- Remedial education, additional instructional time and construction of new schools are promising interventions for improving learning outcomes.
- Construction of new schools and programmes to construct latrines in schools also appear promising for improving school participation, with greater benefits for girls. More research is needed to assess whether these improvements can be replicated elsewhere.
- For some commonly implemented programmes, the results are less encouraging. Programmes providing new learning materials had little or no effect on learning outcomes, when measured in terms of maths, language arts and composite test scores. Qualitative studies suggest several programmes suffered from implementation challenges and that the materials provided to students were not always appropriately customised. This kind of educational 'hardware' may be necessary, but does not seem to be sufficient for improving learning outcomes, especially if poorly designed or implemented.
- Computer-assisted learning programmes have mixed effects on learning outcomes. These programmes can improve learning, especially in maths. However, results vary greatly by location, and the overall effects on language and composite test scores are close to zero. These programmes have also had harmful effects on children's learning in contexts where they have been poorly designed and/or implemented.
- Teacher incentive programmes appear to have small overall effects on teacher performance and student outcomes, based on the few available studies. The average effects range from small negative effects on some measures of teacher performance (use of materials) to no effects on a range of student participation outcomes (student attendance, drop out, completion) and learning outcomes (language arts, composite test scores). Maths test scores may be an exception, with modest overall improvements. Despite the popularity of such programmes, the evidence suggests that teachers do not seem to improve their attendance or alter their instruction techniques in response to incentives, with the exception of an increased focus on preparing for tests.
- Teacher hiring interventions are designed to increase the number and quality of teachers in schools. Few overall lessons can be drawn due to the diversity of programme design and variation in results within this category.

Of the interventions included in this review, structured pedagogy programmes have the largest and most consistent positive effects on learning outcomes.

- The evidence on the effectiveness of hiring additional contract teachers is mixed. The Extra Teacher Programme in Kenya led to significant improvements for some learning outcomes, but attempts to replicate these results through new programmes in Kenya and India failed to show the same success. Contract teachers may perform better than civil service teachers in some contexts. The overall performance of contract teachers in Pakistan and Kenya, as measured by the maths, language arts and composite test scores of students, was superior to that of their civil service peers. However, in Togo, students of contract teachers performed worse than those of civil service teachers on maths tests.
- We did not identify studies assessing the effects of stand-alone teacher training programmes. However, both structured pedagogy and remedial education interventions typically include elements of teacher training.

Programmes addressing constraints at the school and teacher levels can improve children's learning outcomes. Structured pedagogy programmes that change the classroom environment had the largest and most consistent positive effects on learning, in comparison to any other programme across the review. Remedial education, additional instructional time and construction of new schools are also promising for improving learning outcomes, but this needs to be further assessed in new studies. Providing education-related 'hardware', such as materials and technology, may be necessary, but not always sufficient for improving learning outcomes if programmes are poorly designed and/or implemented. Despite the popularity of teacherfocused interventions, we find limited evidence and are unable to draw any strong conclusions about the effects of specific programmes, although teacher incentives appear to have small effects on teachers' behaviour and children's learning outcomes.



7.1.3 Main findings: systems



There is an increasing focus on systems interventions that aim to improve education outcomes through changes to the education system at the community, local, regional or national level. Such programmes aim to improve the way schools are run by changing the governance and financing of education.

• Community-based management interventions improve school enrolment in some contexts, but effects on other participation outcomes (such as student attendance, completion and drop out) are less clear. The results also suggest communitybased management interventions can improve student test scores, but effects vary between contexts – even within the same country. School-based management interventions

do not appear to improve school participation, with little or no improvement, on average, in enrolment, completion and drop-out rates. This finding is consistent across programmes and outcomes, although few studies are available to assess the results for enrolment. Similarly, the overall effect of school-based management interventions on learning outcomes is close to zero. But there is a large amount of variability in effects across contexts, with larger improvements in learning outcomes in several programmes in the Philippines.

Public-private partnerships improve school participation in some contexts. They also improve learning outcomes in some contexts, but the overall effect is relatively small, ranging from two per cent improvement in language to 2.5 per cent improvement in maths. Programme context and design are key to the success of public-private partnerships. In particular, we find that public-private partnerships involving per student subsidies to low-cost private schools have substantial effects on school enrolment rates in low-income settings, as replicated across three programmes in Haiti, Pakistan and Uganda. Programmes that are primarily focused on improving the governance and financing of education attempt to influence education outcomes through systemic changes. The evidence suggests that public–private partnerships (low-cost private schools) and community-based monitoring may improve school participation outcomes in some contexts, with community-based monitoring also improving learning in some contexts. The results for school-based management are less encouraging, with small overall effects, and zero or small negative effects in some cases.

7.2

Cross-cutting lessons about factors that influence effectiveness: implications for policymakers and programme managers

The review finds that the effects of programmes vary greatly across different contexts, with the same type of intervention leading to different outcomes in different countries, or even in different locations within the same country. Most interventions improved outcomes in some contexts. However, when averaged across locations, the effects were small or statistically insignificant. This shows that programme effectiveness is often dependent on programme design and implementation, and the local context. This section summarises cross-cutting findings on process, implementation and contextual factors that affect results. It also suggests what decision-makers in the education sector can take from this comprehensive review.

Successful programmes address constraints at multiple levels. As seen in the analytical framework (see Figure 1, page 9), children's education outcomes are influenced by a range of factors, such as their health and nutrition, the socio-economic situation of their household, the materials and human resources available in the classroom and the management of these resources.¹² It is thus not surprising that outcomes of any one intervention may be affected by the extent to which other major constraints remain unaddressed. This is illustrated by programmes that seek to reduce schooling costs, such as cash transfer programmes.

Cash transfer programmes were the most effective intervention in boosting school attendance and other participation outcomes. However, they had little effect on learning outcomes, as measured by maths, language and composite test scores. This could be due to the low quality of schools that those children attend. Unless cash transfer programmes are also accompanied by additional resources for schools and teachers, a sharp increase in the number of children enrolled or attending school may reduce the quality of education provided by schools. The same is true for national policies to eliminate user fees, which can lead to a surge in enrolment and a resulting shortage of teachers and textbooks. Unless cash transfer programmes are also accompanied by additional resources for schools and teachers, a sharp increase in the number of children enrolled or attending school may reduce education quality.

Thus, some interventions may be necessary, but not sufficient, for improved outcomes. For some interventions, such as providing materials and school-based management, we find small average effects, and programmes that just provide materials have a relatively consistent pattern of small or negative effects on learning outcomes. The effectiveness of these programmes could be hampered by problems with implementation. They could also be lacking in terms of design, because they focus on increasing the supply of materials, without addressing other constraints to learning, such as the teacher's ability to integrate the materials in their teaching.

Other programme types, such as structured pedagogy and remedial education, also provide learning materials, but these programmes have more promising effects on learning outcomes. In these programmes, materials are part of a package and are typically integrated with a tailored curriculum. In contexts where there are several constraints, such as very low levels of learning at baseline and poorly trained teachers, materials may be a necessary but not sufficient condition for children's learning.

Similarly, programmes that attempt to improve the governance and quality of education systems address barriers such as information asymmetries and lack of accountability between service users and providers. They do not address constraints, such as a lack of trained teachers or insufficient school materials. Thus, in resource-poor contexts, school-based management and community-based management programmes were not always sufficient to improve education outcomes. Tailoring programmes to suit baseline constraints and capacities can improve the chance for success. Many of the successful programmes were those that were tailored to the human and social capital of the location in which they were delivered.

School-feeding programmes, for example, had the largest effect in areas with high levels of food insecurity, malnutrition and low school attendance. The effects were much smaller in better-off areas where enrolment was already high and malnutrition was less common.

Social capital may be an important factor for interventions intended to improve school governance. Both school-based management and community-based monitoring were most successful in settings with high levels of social capital and a tradition of local participation. In the Philippines, where school-based management had consistently positive effects, the qualitative evidence suggests parents and communities were willing and able to make basic decisions about schooling when given the opportunity to do so. In contrast, results in most other contexts were disappointing. Evidence from Niger and the Gambia suggest that low social and human capital may limit the success of school-based management programmes.

Implementation is key to whether a programme

is successful. Challenges with implementation have been frequently reported for a range of programmes, including computer-assisted learning, teacher incentives and school-based management. For example, several computer-assisted learning programmes faced issues, such as insufficient, damaged and dysfunctional equipment, lack of internet access and software not being compatible with hardware. Little or no teacher training was also a challenge for several programmes, including computer-assisted learning. Problems with funding also affected the success of several school-based management programmes. Grants were not disbursed as intended and significant delays were reported for several programmes.

In most cases, these issues are due to lack of implementation capacity at different levels of the supply chain. Implementation problems are also often seen in programmes that include a range of activities, have ambitious goals and long causal chains.

Interventions with relatively short causal chains that directly target barriers to participation and learning may be more effective. Programmes that directly address constraints to improve an outcome appear more likely to succeed. Such programmes have fewer assumptions about how people and systems will respond, and the risk of implementation failure is reduced. For example, if the main constraint to attendance is family resources, it is not surprising that cash transfers consistently improve attendance. Many of the successful programmes were those that were tailored to the human and social capital of the location in which they were delivered.

The causal chain between cash transfers and their impact on learning is much longer: transfers would need to improve household income to the extent that the learning environment for the child is improved, and the child would then need to study harder and perform better in the classroom. In contrast, structured pedagogy programmes target learning outcomes and provide a range of different components to address barriers to learning at the school and teacher level. The causal chain between the programme and its impact on learning is relatively short. It is therefore not surprising that we find that programmes typically improve either school participation or learning outcomes, but not both.

Programmes involving teachers need to consider the time and motivation required for them to participate. Teachers are the most important actors of the education system. If teachers do not participate in programmes in which they have a key role, the programme cannot be successful. Thus, programmes need to consider their time and motivation. For example, evidence from some computer-assisted learning programmes suggests programme designs need to consider teachers' workloads, and their attitudes and motivation for making radical changes in the way they teach.

Evidence from interventions that are directly targeted at teachers also show that programmes need to carefully consider the incentives that affect teacher behaviour. Teachers do not seem to alter their teaching approach and instruction techniques in response to incentives, except if the incentives are conditional on student performance, which may increase the number of preparatory sessions for tests. Teacher hiring programmes may be difficult to implement in contexts where such reforms are perceived to threaten existing jobs. They may also provoke opposition because they can mean lower pay, fewer privileges and less job security, resulting in a 'disgruntled worker effect' that could negatively affect teacher performance.

7.3 Implications for future research

- We need more high-quality evidence to inform education policies and programmes. To improve the effectiveness of policies and programmes, we need to draw on different kinds of evidence. However, this review highlights the paucity of evidence in multiple areas. For several types of education programmes, few impact evaluations have been carried out and effects on final outcomes are therefore unknown.
- Very few impact evaluations are being conducted to assess several types of education programme. Despite the large number of studies identified, the distribution of studies across different intervention areas in the education sector is not well balanced. Cash transfers, structured pedagogy and computer-assisted learning are relatively well studied compared to other intervention areas, where the evidence base is insufficient to draw strong conclusions about effects. It would be particularly valuable to study promising interventions, such as remedial education, new schools and infrastructure, low-cost private schools and school-feeding, to establish whether the effects observed in a few contexts can be replicated elsewhere.
- The geographical coverage of impact evaluations is uneven and this limits the generalisability of findings. As was seen in Chapter 3, some countries with large populations, such as Nigeria, Indonesia and Bangladesh, facing serious challenges in terms of improving access to quality education, have had no or very few education-related impact evaluations. New studies from a more representative sample of countries would help identify effective interventions that would suit a broader range of contexts.
- The failure of several large-scale programmes highlights the need for more formative studies and pilot interventions so challenges on the ground are better assessed. Formative studies can help in customising programme designs to address the specific constraints of a given context. Such studies would help prevent the large-scale programme failures. The evidence from this review also shows that variations in programme design can influence outcomes. The pilot phase of the programme would therefore be important for testing out the different design options.

- More qualitative research, process evaluations and monitoring data would help explain findings from impact evaluations. We found that few qualitative research and process evaluations are being carried out as part of impact evaluations. High-quality qualitative research and process monitoring data are important to provide explanations for programme failures or attempts to replicate successful interventions. Formative research, process evaluations and monitoring data conducted alongside impact evaluations should be a priority for future studies.
- Studies are needed to examine effects across different sub-populations. The Sustainable Development Goals emphasise inclusive and equitable education for all children. However, most studies report average effects on all children, without providing sub-population analysis. New studies should be designed to allow for this analysis by different population characteristics, such as sex, age, ethnicity or disability.
- We need more studies to evaluate the long-term impact of education programmes. Given the complexity of the education process, programmes may take some time to affect education outcomes. In addition, a programme's long-term impact may not be the same as its short-term impact. We therefore need more evidence to compare the impact of a programme in its first year with its impact in its second year. Most experiments only run for a year or two, so this may require developing new methods or better utilisation of administrative education data for evaluating programme effects.
- Data are needed on cost-effectiveness to improve the policy relevance of findings. Few studies collect data on costs. We were not able to do conduct cost-effectiveness analyses because the number of studies with cost data was so small.¹³ This limits the usefulness of findings for informing investment decisions. Collection of cost data as a part of evaluations needs to be a mandatory part of reporting on programme effectiveness. The cost-effectiveness of an intervention is, after all, an important consideration for making choices about programmes, policies and strategies suitable for different contexts.

As national governments work on strategies for meeting the ambitious SDGs by 2030, we need to draw on evidence for making decisions on investments in education. To ensure inclusive and equitable access to quality education for all, we need to act now to generate and use more and better evidence.

References

Adukia, A, 2014. Sanitation and education. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://dosen. narotama.ac.id/w p-content/ uploads/2014/11/Sanitation-and-Education.pdf

Afridi, F, Barooah, B and Somanathan, R, 2014. The mixture as before? Student responses to the changing content of school meals in India. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://www.isid.ac. in/~fafridi/doc/mixture.pdf

Akresh, R, De Walque, D and Kazianga, H, 2013. *Cash transfers and child schooling: Evidence from a randomized evaluation of the role of conditionality.* The World Bank, Policy Research Working Paper Series: 6340.

Altman, E, 2013. Childhood nutrition in Chile: An assessment of a national school food program. Thesis submitted to the Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors. Atlanta: Emory College.

Andrabi, T, Das, J and Khwaja, AI, 2013. Report cards: The impact of providing school and child test scores on educational markets. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ ref/10.1596/1813-9450-7362

Ashley, LD, McLoughlin, MA, Engel, J, Wales, J, Rawal, S, Batley, R, Kingdon, G, Nicolai, S and Rose P, 2014. *What we know – and don't know – about the impact of private schooling in developing countries.* Available at: http://www.ukfiet. org/2015/what-we-know-anddont-know-about-the-impact-ofprivate-schooling-in-developingcountries Aturupane, H, Glewwe, P, Ravina, R, Sonnadara, U and Wisniewski, S, 2014. An assessment of the impacts of Sri Lanka's programme for school improvement and school report card programme on students' academic progress. *Journal of Development Studies*, 50, pp.1647–1669.

Baird, S, McIntosh, C and Ozler, B, 2010. Cash or condition? Evidence from a randomized cash transfer program. Working Paper. Available at: http:// siteresources.worldbank.org/ EXTLACOFFICEOFCE/ Resources/870892-1265238560114/OzlerPaper.pdf

Baird, S, Ferreira, F, Özler, B and Woolcock, M, 2013. Relative effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of conditional and unconditional cash transfers for schooling outcomes in developing countries: A systematic review (protocol). Campbell Systematic Reviews 2013:8

Bando, R, 2010. The effect of school based management on parent behavior and the quality of education in Mexico. PhD thesis, University of California, Berkeley, CA.

Banerjee, AV, Cole, S, Duflo, E and Linden, LL, 2007. Remedying education: Evidence from two randomized experiments in India. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 122, pp.1235–1264.

Banerjee, AV, Banerji, R, Duflo, E, Glennerster, R and Khemani, S, 2008. *Pitfalls of participatory programs: Evidence from a randomized evaluation in education in India.* Washington DC: World Bank. Banerjee, AV, Banerji, R, Duflo, E, Glennerster, R and Khemani, S, 2010. Pitfalls of participatory programs: Evidence from a randomized evaluation in education in India. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 2, pp.1–30.

Barrera-Osorio, F, 2006. The impact of private provision of public education: Empirical evidence from Bogotá's concession schools. Washington DC: World Bank.

Barrera-Osorio, F, Fasih, T, Patrinos, HA, and Santibáñez, L, 2009. Directions in development: decentralized decision-making in schools: the theory and evidence on school-based management. Washington DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / World Bank.

Bau, N and Das, J, 2014. *The misallocation of pay and productivity in the public sector: Evidence from the labor market for teachers.* Paper for the Poverty and Applied Microeconomics Seminar Series. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Barrera-Osorio, F, de Galbert, P, Habyarimana, J and Sabarwal, S, 2015. The impact of public–private partnerships on private school performance: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial in Uganda. Working paper. Available at: http://www. riseprogramme.org/sites/www. rise.ox.ac.uk/files/5_%20PPP_ Uganda_Barreraetal.pdf

Barrera-Osorio, F and Raju, D, 2011. Evaluating public per-student subsidies to low-cost private schools: regression-discontinuity evidence from Pakistan. Washington DC: World Bank. Barrera-Osorio, F and Filmer, D, 2013. Incentivizing schooling for learning: Evidence on the impact of alternative targeting approaches. Washington DC: The World Bank.

Beasley, E and Huillery, E, 2014. Willing but unable: Short-term experimental evidence on parent empowerment and school quality. Available at: https://www. povertyactionlab.org/sites/default/ files/publications/185%20 Niger-%20Willing%20but%20 Unable%202015.01.19.pdf

Behrman, JR, Parker, S, Todd, P and Wolpin, K, 2012. Aligning learning incentives of students and teachers: Results from a social experiment in Mexican high schools. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://economics. wustl.edu/files/economics/imce/ todd_paper.pdf

Benhassine, N, Devoto, F, Duflo, E, Dupas, P and Pouliquen, V, 2013. Turning a shove into a nudge? A 'labeled cash transfer' for education. Working paper. Available at: http://www.nber.org/ papers/w19227

Bjorkman, M, 2006. Does money matter for student performance? Evidence from a grant program in Uganda. Stockholm, Sweden: Institute for International Economic Studies (IIES), Stockholm University.

Blimpo, MP, 2010. Team incentives for education in developing countries: a randomized field experiment in Benin. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://www. bus.miami.edu/_assets/files/ events/Blimpo Blimpo, MP and Evans, DK, 2011. School-based management and educational outcomes: Lessons from a randomized field experiment. Washington DC: World Bank.

Blimpo, MP, Evans, DK and Lahire, N, 2015. Parental human capital and effective school management: Evidence from the Gambia. Washington DC: World Bank

Bold, T, Kimenyi, M, Mwabu, G, Ng'ang'a, A and Sandefur, J, 2013. Scaling up what works: Experimental evidence on external validity in Kenyan education. Washington DC: The Center for Global Development.

Borenstein, M, Hedges, LV, Higgins, JPT and Rothstein, H, 2009. Introduction to Meta-Analysis (Statistics in Practice). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

Borkum, E, He, F and Linden, LL, 2013. The effects of school libraries on language skills: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial in India. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://www. nber.org/papers/w18183

Borman, GD, Hewes, GM, Overman, LT and Brown, S, 2003. Comprehensive School Reform and Achievement: A Meta-Analysis. *Review of Educational Research* 73, pp.125–230.

Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015. Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya a multi-sectoral, prospective randomised evaluation. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Bruns, B, Filmer, D and Patrinos, HA, 2011. *Making schools work: New evidence on accountability reforms.* Washington DC: World Bank.

Bundy, D, 2005. School health and nutrition: Policy and programs. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 26, pp.S186-S192.

Bundy, D, Shaeffer, S, Jukes, M, Beegle, K, Gillespie, A, Drake, L, Lee, SF, Hoffman, A, Jones, J, Mitchell, A, Barcelona, D, Camara, B, Golmar, C, Savioli, L, Sembene, M, Takeuchi, T and Wright, C, 2006. School-based health and nutrition programs. In: Jamison, DT, Breman, JG, Measham, AR, Alleyne, G, Claeson, M, Evans, DB, Jha, P, Mills, A and Musgrove, P (eds.) Disease control priorities in developing countries. Washington DC: World Bank.

Bundy, D, Burbano, C, Grosh, M, Gelli, A, Jukes, M and Drake, L, 2009. *Why implement school feeding? Rethinking school feeding: Social safety nets, child development, and the education sector.* Washington DC: World Bank.

Burde, D and Linden, LL, 2009. The effect of proximity on school enrollment: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial in Afghanistan. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://sticerd. Ise.ac.uk/seminarpapers/ dg11052009.pdf

Burde, D and Linden, LL, 2013. Bringing education to Afghan girls: A randomized controlled trial of village-based schools. *American Economic Journal Applied Economics*, 5, pp.27–40. Cabezas, V, Cuesta, JI and Gallego, FA, 2011. Effects of short-term tutoring on cognitive and non-cognitive skills: Evidence from a randomized evaluation in Chile. Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.povertyactionlab.org/ sites/default/files/ publications/493%20-%20 short-term%20tutoring%20 May2011.pdf

Camargo, B, Camelo, R, Firpo, S and Ponczek, V, 2012. Test score disclosure and school performance. Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/228417614_Test_ Score_Disclosure_and_School_ Performance

The Campbell Collaboration. Campbell Systematic Reviews: Policies and Guidelines Campbell Systematic Reviews 2015: Supplement 1. Available at: http://www.campbellcollaboration. org/artman2/uploads/1/C2_ Policies_and_Guidelines_Doc_ Version_1_1-3.pdf

Carillo, P, Onofa, M and Ponce, J, 2010. Information technology and student achievement: Evidence from a randomized experiment in Ecuador. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Colclough, C, Rose, P and Tembon, M, 2000. Gender inequalities in primary schooling: The roles of poverty and adverse cultural practice. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 20, pp.5–27.

Cook, TD, 2007. School-Based Management in the United States. Washington, DC: World Bank. Cristia, J, Ibarraran, P, Cueto, S, Santiago, A and Severin, E, 2012. *Technology and child development: Evidence from the one laptop per child program.* Bonn, Germany: The Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).

CSDH (2008).

Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Cueto, S, Torero, M, León, J and Deustua, J, 2008. Asistencia docente y rendimiento escolar: El caso del programa meta. Lima: Grupo de Análisis para el Desarrollo (GRADE).

Das, J, Dercon, S, Habyarimana, J, Krishnan, P, Muralidharan, K and Sundararaman, V, 2013. School inputs, household substitution, and test scores. *American Economic Journal – Applied Economics*, 5, pp.29–57.

David, C and Quispe, L, 2013. Evaluación del impacto del programa olpc sobre los procesos de mejoramiento de la educación pública. Nuevas Ideas en Informática Educativa TISE 2013. Conference paper.

de Melo, G, Machado, A and Miranda, A, 2014. The impact of a one laptop per child program on learning. Evidence from Uruguay. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://ftp.iza.org/ dp8489.pdf

Department for International Development (DFID), 2013. Education position paper: Improving learning, expanding opportunities. London: Department for International Development Diagne, A, Lô, MM, Sokhna, O and Diallo, FL, 2014. Evaluation of the impact of school canteen programs on internal efficiency of schools, cognitive acquisitions and learning capacities of students in rural primary schools in Senegal. Nairobi: Partnership for Economic Policy working paper

Duflo, E, Dupas, P and Kremer, M, 2011. Peer effects, teacher incentives, and the impact of tracking: Evidence from a randomized evaluation in Kenya. *American Economic Review*, 101, pp.1739–1774.

Duflo, E, Dupas, P and Kremer, M, 2012. School governance, teacher incentives, and pupil-teacher ratios: Experimental evidence from Kenyan primary schools. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Duflo, E, Hanna, R and Ryan, SP, 2012. Incentives work: Getting teachers to come to school. *American Economic Review*, 102, pp.1241–1278.

Duflo, E, Dupas, P and Kremer, M, 2015. School governance, teacher incentives, and pupil-teacher ratios: Experimental evidence from Kenyan primary schools. *Journal of Public Economics*, 123, pp.92–110.

Dumitrescu, A, Levy, D, Orfield, C and Sloan, M, 2011. *Impact evaluation of Niger's IMAGINE program.* Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research. Ebenezer, R, Gunawardena, K, Kumarendran, B, Pathmeswaran, A, Jukes, MCH, Drake, LJ and Silva, ND, 2013. Cluster-randomised trial of the impact of school-based deworming and iron supplementation on the cognitive abilities of schoolchildren in Sri Lanka's plantation sector. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 18, pp.942–951.

EEF, 2016.

Education Endowment Foundation Toolkit: Setting or streaming. Available from: https:// educationendowmentfoundation. org.uk/evidence/teachinglearning-toolkit/setting-orstreaming/#what-is-it

Estrada, R, 2013. Rules rather than discretion: Teacher hiring and rent extraction. Unpublished manuscript. Available at: http://www.iza.org/ conference_files/SUMS_2014/ estrada_r7566.pdf

Evans, D, Kremer, M and Ngatia, M, 2012. School costs, school participation and long-run outcomes: Evidence from Kenya. Unpublished manuscript. Available at: https:// www.povertyactionlab.org/sites/ default/files/publications/21%20 Response%20Part%201%20 Oct2014.pdf

Farrell, JP and Heyneman, SP, 1989. *Textbooks in the developing world: Economic and educational choices.* Washington, DC: Economic Development Institute of the World Bank.

Fernando, D, De Silva, D, Carter, R, Mendis, KN and Wickremasinghe, R, 2006. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, clinical trial of the impact of malaria prevention on the educational attainment of school children. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 74, pp.386–93. Fielden, J and LaRocque, N, 2008. The Evolving Regulatory Context for Private Education in Emerging Economies. Discussion Paper. In: Bjarnason, S, Patrinos, HA, Tan, JP, Fielden, J and LaRocque, N, 2008. The evolving regulatory context for private education in emerging economies: discussion paper and case studies. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Fiszbein, A and Schady, N, 2009. Conditional Cash Transfers: Reducing Present and Future Poverty. Washington DC: World Bank.

Freeman, MC, Greene, LE, Dreibelbis, R, Saboori, S, Muga, R, Brumback, B and Rheingans, R, 2012. Assessing the impact of a school-based water treatment, hygiene and sanitation programme on pupil absence in Nyanza province, Kenya: A cluster-randomized trial. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 17, pp.380–391.

Gaarder, M, 2012. Conditional versus unconditional cash: a commentary. *Journal* of *Development Effectiveness*, 4, pp.130–133.

Garlick, R, 2013. How price sensitive is primary and secondary school enrolment? Evidence from nationwide tuition fee reforms in South Africa. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/ en/3241466186067633/garlickschoolfees.pdf

Gertler, PJ, Patrinos, HA and Rubio-Codina, M, 2012. Empowering parents to improve education: Evidence from rural Mexico. *Journal of Development Economics*, 99, pp.68–79. Glewwe, P, 2013.

What education policies work best to increase student learning? Lessons from three recent reviews on the evidence. Health and Education Advice and Resource Team (HEART). Prepared for DFID Education Advisers 16th January 2013.

Glewwe, P and Miguel, T, 2008. The impact of child health and nutrition on education in less developed countries. *Handbook of Development Economics*, 4, pp.3562–3606.

Glewwe, P, Park, A and Zhao, M, 2014. A better vision for development: Eyeglasses and academic performance in rural primary schools in China. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota.

Glewwe, P and Muralidharan, K, 2015. Improving School Education Outcomes in Developing Countries: Evidence, Knowledge Gaps, and Policy Implications. RISE-WP-15/001. RISE Programme.

Glewwe, P, Kremer, M, Moulin, S and Zitzewitz, E, 2004. Retrospective vs. Prospective analyses of school inputs: The case of flip charts in Kenya. *Journal of Development Economics*, 74, pp.251–268.

Glewwe, P, Kremer, M and Moulin, S, 2009. Many children left behind? Textbooks and test scores in Kenya. *American Economic Journal – Applied Economics*, 1, pp.112–135.

Glewwe, P, Ilias, N and Kremer, M, 2010. Teacher incentives. *American Economic Journal – Applied Economics*, 2, pp.205–227. Glewwe PW, Hanushek EA, Humpage SD, Ravina R, 2011. School Resources and Educational Outcomes in Developing Countries: A Review of the Literature from 1990 to 2010. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

GPE 2016.

Financing for education factsheet. Available from: http://www.globalpartnership.org/ content/financing-educationfactsheet – accessed 30/6-2016.

Grigorenko EL, Jarvin, L, Kaani, B, Kapungulya PP, Kwiatkowski, J and Sternberg RJ, 2007. Risk factors and resilience in the developing world: One of many lessons to learn. *Development and Psychopathology*, 19, pp.747–765.

Grogan, L, 2008. Universal primary education and school entry in Uganda. *Journal of African Economies*, 18, pp.83–211.

Gutiérrez, E and Rodrigo, R, 2014. Closing the achievement gap in mathematics: Evidence from a remedial program in Mexico City. *Latin American Economic Review*, 23, pp.1–30.

Hammerstrøm, K, Wade, A and Klint Jørgensen, AM, 2010. Searching for studies: A guide to information retrieval for Campbell systematic reviews. Oslo: Campbell Collaboration

Hannum, E and Buchmann, C, 2003. *The consequences of global educational expansion. Social science perspectives.* Cambridge, MA: American Academy of Arts and Sciences. He, F, Linden, LL and MacLeod, M, 2007. Helping teach what teachers don't know: An assessment of the Pratham English language program. Columbia University, New York. Unpublished working paper. Available at: http://www.cid.harvard.edu/ neudc07/docs/neudc07_ s6_p02_he.pdf

He, F, 2010. Essays on education programs in developing countries, PhD thesis, Columbia University, New York.

Higgins JPT and Green, S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available at: http://www. handbook.cochrane.org

Hillman, AL and Jenkner, E, 2004. Educating children in poor countries. *Economic Issues*, 33. Available at: http://www.imf.org/ external/pubs/ft/issues/issues33/ index.htm

Humpage, S, 2013. Essays on child development in developing countries, PhD thesis, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Hunt, F, 2008. Dropping out from school: A cross country review of literature. Falmer, UK: Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE).

Imbrogno, J, 2014. Essays on the economics of education. PhD thesis, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA. Ismail, SJ, Jarvis, EA and Borja-Vega, C, 2012. *Guyana's hinterland community-based school feeding program (SFP).* Washington, DC: World Bank

Jensen, R, 2010. The (perceived) returns to education and the demand for schooling. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 125, pp.515–548.

Jomaa, LH, McDonnell, E and Probart, C, 2011. School feeding programs in developing countries: Impacts on children's health and educational outcomes. *Nutrition Reviews*, 69, pp.83–98.

J-PAL Policy Bulletin, 2012. Deworming: a best buy for development. Cambridge, MA: Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab.

Jukes, M, Drake, L and Bundym, D, 2008. Levelling the playing field: School health, nutrition and education for all. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Jukes, MCH, Zuilkowski, SS, Parawan, A and Lee, S, 2014. Evaluating the cognitive impacts of school health in the Philippines. *International Journal of Child Health and Human Development*, 7, 55–66.

Kerwin, JT and Thornton, R, 2015. Making the grade: Understanding what works for teaching literacy in rural Uganda. Available at: https://www.gwu.edu/~iiep/events/ GW_Africa_Conference2016/ Presentations/Thornton.pdf

Khattri, N, Ling, C and Jha, S, 2012. The effects of school-based management in the Philippines: An initial assessment using administrative data. *Journal* of Development Effectiveness, 4, pp.277–295. Kremer, M, Miguel, E and Thornton, R, 2009. Incentives to learn. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 91, pp.437–456.

Krishnaratne, S and White, H, 2013. *Quality education for all children. What works in education in developing countries?* Delhi: 3ie.

Kristjansson, B, Petticrew, M, MacDonald, B, Krasevec, J, Janzen, L, Greenhalgh, T, Wells, GA, MacGowan, J, Farmer, AP, Shea, BJ, Mayhew, A, Tugwell, P and Welch, V, 2009. School feeding for improving the physical and psychosocial health of disadvantaged students (review). The Cochrane Library.

Lai, F, Luo, R, Zhang, L, Huang, X and Rozelle, S, 2011. Does computer-assisted learning improve learning outcomes? Evidence from a randomized experiment in migrant schools in Beijing. Stanford, CA: Rural Education Action Program (REAP).

Lai, F, Zhang, L, Hu, X, Qu, Q, Shi, Y, Qiao, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2013. Computer assisted learning as extracurricular tutor? Evidence from a randomised experiment in rural boarding schools in Shaanxi. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 5, pp.208–231.

Lakshminarayana, R, Eble, A, Bhakta, P, Frost, C, Boone, P, Elbourne, D and Mann, V, 2013. The support to rural India's public education system (STRIPES) trial: A cluster randomised controlled trial of supplementary teaching, learning material and material support. *PLoS One*, 8 (7). Lassibille, G, 2013. Improving Teachers' Professionalism on an Experimental Basis. *Regional and Sectoral Economic Studies*, 13, pp.19–38.

Lassibille, G, Tan, JP, Jesse, C and Nguyen, TV. 2010. Managing for Results in Primary Education in Madagascar: Evaluating the Impact of Selected Workflow Interventions. The World Bank Economic Reviews, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp.303–329

Levy, D, Sloan, M, Linden, LL and Kazianga, H, 2009. Impact evaluation of Burkina Faso's bright program: Final report. Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Li, T, Han, L, Zhang, L and Rozelle, S, 2014. Encouraging classroom peer interactions: Evidence from Chinese migrant schools. *Journal of Public Economics*, 111, pp.29–45.

Linden, LL, 2008. Complement or substitute? The effect of technology on student achievement in India. Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.povertyactionlab.org/ evaluation/complement-orsubstitute-effect-technologystudent-achievement-india

Liu, C, Yi, H, Luo, R, Bai, Y, Zhang, L, Shi, Y, Wang, H, Chu, J and Rozelle, S, 2013. The effect of early commitment of financial aid on matriculation to senior high school among poor junior high students in rural China. Stanford, CA: Rural Education Action Project (REAP). Lokshin, M and Yemtsov, M, 2004. Combining longitudinal household and community surveys for evaluation of social transfers: Infrastructure rehabilitation projects in rural Georgia. *Journal of Human Development*, 5, pp.265–277.

Loveless, T, 2013. *The 2013 Brown Center Report on American Education: How well are American children learning?* Volume 3, Number 2. Washington DC: Brown Center on Education Policy at Brookings.

Lucas, AM, McEwan, PJ, Ngware, M and Oketch, M, 2014. Improving early-grade literacy in east Africa: Experimental evidence from Kenya and Uganda. University of Delaware Working Papers: 13–03.

Luo, R, Shi, Y, Zhang, L, Liu, C, Rozelle, S, Sharbono, B, Yue, A, Zhao, Q and Martorell, R, 2012. Nutrition and educational performance in rural China's elementary schools: Results of a randomized control trial in Shaanxi province. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 60, pp.735–72.

Masino, S and Niño-Zarazúa, M, 2015. What works to improve the quality of student learning in developing countries? Helsinki: World Institute for Development Economics Research.

Marishane, RN, 2013. Empowerment and accountability in implementing a 'no-fee school' policy: A challenge for school governing bodies. *Africa Education Review*, 10, pp.224–237.

McEwan, PJ, 2013. The impact of Chile's school feeding program on education outcomes. *Economics of Education Review*, 32, pp.122–139. McEwan, P, 2015. Improving learning in primary schools of developing countries: A meta-analysis of randomized experiments. *Review* of *Educational Research*, 85, pp.353–394.

Miguel, E and Kremer, M, 2004. Worms: Identifying impacts on education and health in the presence of treatment externalities. *Econometrica*, 72, pp.159–217.

Miller, C and Tsoka, M, 2012. Cash transfers and children's education and labour among Malawi's poor. *Development Policy Review*, 30, pp.499–522.

Mo, D, Zhang, L, Wang, J, Huang, W, Shi, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2014. *The persistence of gains in learning from computer assisted learning (CAL): Evidence from a randomized experiment in rural schools in Shaanxi province in China. Stanford, CA: Rural Education Action Program (REAP).*

Morgan, C, Petrosino, A and Fronius, T, 2013. A systematic review of the evidence of the impact of school voucher programmes in developing countries. London: EPPICentre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Morgan, C, Petrosino, A and Fronius, T, 2014. Eliminating School Fees in Low-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. *Journal of MultiDisciplinary Evaluation*, 10, pp.26–43.

Muralidharan, K and Sundararaman, V, 2011. Teacher performance pay: Experimental evidence from India. *Journal of Political Economy*, 119, pp.39–77. Muralidharan, K and Sundararaman, V, 2013a. *The aggregate effect of school choice: Evidence from a two-stage experiment in India.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Muralidharan, K and Sundararaman, V, 2013b. *Contract teachers: Experimental evidence from India.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Murnane, RJJ, Willet, JB and Cardenas, S, 2006. Did the participation of schools in Programa Escuelas de Calidad (PEC) influence student outcomes? Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/263542240_Did_ Participation_of_Schools_In_ Programa_Escuelas_de_ Calidad_PEC_Influence_ Student_Outcomes

Newman, J, Pradhan, M, Rawlings, L, Ridder, G, Coa, R and Evia, JL, 2002. An impact evaluation of education, health, and water supply investments by the Bolivian social investment fund. *World Bank Economic Review*, 16, pp.241–274.

Nguyen, T, 2008. Information, role models, and perceived returns to education: Experimental evidence from Madagascar. Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.povertyactionlab.org/ sites/default/files/documents/ Nguyen%202008.pdf Nguyen, T and Lassibille, G, 2008. Improving management in education: Evidence from a randomized experiment in Madagascar. Unpublished working paper. Available at: https://www.povertyactionlab.org/ evaluation/primary-educationmanagement-madagascar

Nkosi, CS, 2011. *The implications of being declared a no fee school.* The Faculty of Education, University of Pretoria.

Nonoyama-Tarumi, Y and Bredenberg, K, 2009. Impact of school readiness program interventions on children's learning in Cambodia. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 29, pp.39–45.

OLPC, n.d.

One laptop per child: about the project – countries. Available at: http://one.laptop.org/about/ countries – accessed 30/6-2016.

Ortiz, EA and Cristia, J, 2014. *The IDB and technology in education: How to promote effective programs?* Washington DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Pandey, P, Goyal, S and Sundararaman, V, 2011. Does information improve school accountability? Results of a large randomized trial. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Patrinos, H, Barrera-Osorio, F and Guaqueta, J, 2009. *The role and impact of public–private partnerships in education*. Washington DC: World Bank.

Petrosino, A, Morgan, C, Fronius, TA, Tanner-Smith, EE and Boruch, RF, 2012. Interventions in developing nations for improving primary and secondary school enrolment of children: A systematic review. Campbell Systematic Reviews: 2012:19. Piper, B, Zuilkowski, SS and Mugenda, A, 2014. Improving reading outcomes in Kenya: First-year effects of the PRIMR initiative. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 37, pp11–21.

Powell, CA, Walker, SP, Chang, SM and Grantham-McGregor, SM, 1998. Nutrition and education: A randomized trial of the effects of breakfast in rural primary school children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68, pp.873–879.

Pradhan, M, Suryadarma, D, Beatty, A, Wong, M, Alishjabana, A, Gaduh, A and Artha Rima, P, 2014. Improving educational quality through enhancing community participation: Results from a randomized field experiment in Indonesia. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 6, pp.105–126.

Pritchett, L, 2013. *The rebirth of education: Schooling ain't learning.* Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Randolph, JJ and Edmondson, RS, 2005. Using the Binomial Effect Size Display (BESD) to Present the Magnitude of Effect Sizes to the Evaluation Audience. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*. Vol.10 (14), n.p.

Reinikka, R and Svensson, J, 2007. *The returns from reducing corruption: Evidence from education in Uganda*. CEPR Discussion Papers: 6363, Stockholm.

Robinson, JP, 2011. A global compact on learning: Taking action on education in developing countries. Washington, DC: Center for Universal Education at Brookings. Rumney, E, 2016. UN education chief slams Liberia over schools PPP plan. *Public Finance International*, 31 March 2016.

Sabarwal, S, Evans, DK and Marshak, A, 2014. *The permanent input hypothesis: The case of textbooks and (no) student learning in Sierra Leone.* Washington, DC: World Bank Group Education Global Practice Group & Africa Region.

San Antonio, D and Diosdado, M, 2008. Creating better schools through democratic school leadership. International Journal of Leadership in Education: Theory and Practice, 11, pp.43–62.

Santibañez, L, Martínez, JF, Datar, A, McEwan, PJ, Setodji, CM and Basurto-Dávila, R, 2007. Breaking ground: Analysis of the assessment system and impact of Mexico's teacher incentive program 'Carrera Magisterial'. RAND Corporation.

Santibanez, L, Abreu-Lastra, R and O'Donoghue, JL, 2014. School based management effects: Resources or governance change? Evidence from Mexico. *Economics of Education Review*, 39, pp.97–109.

Shadish, W and Myers, D, 2004. Research design policy brief. Oslo: Campbell Collaboration.

Sharma, UI, 2014. Can computers increase human capital in developing countries? An evaluation of Nepal's one laptop per child program. In 2014 Annual Meeting, J uly 27–29, 2014, Minneapolis, MN (No. 169846). Minneapolis, MN: Agricultural and Applied Economics Association. Sherman, LW, Farrington, DP, Welsh, BC and Layton Mackenzie, D, 2002. Evidence-based crime prevention (revised edition). London: Routledge.

Simeon, DT, Grantham-McGregor, SM, Callender, JE and Wong, MS, 1995. Treatment of Trichuris trichiura infections improves growth, spelling scores and school attendance in some children. *Community and International Nutrition*, pp.1875–1883.

Skoufias, E and Shapiro, J, 2006. Evaluating the impact of Mexico's quality schools program: The pitfalls of using non-experimental data. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Snilstveit, B, Stevenson, J, Phillips, D, Vojtkova, M, Gallagher, E, Schmidt, T, Jobse, H, Geelen, M, Pastorello, M, and Eyers, J, 2015. Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Final Review. London: 3ie.

Spratt, J, King, S and Bulat, J, 2013. Independent evaluation of the effectiveness of institut pour l'Education Populaire's 'read-learn-lead' (RLL) program in Mali. Endline report. Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI International (Prepared for William and Flora Hewlett Foundation).

Tikly, L, 2011. Towards a framework for researching the quality of education in low-income countries. *Comparative Education*, 47, 1–23. Tooley, J and Longfield, D, 2015. The Role and Impact of Private Schools in Developing Countries: A Response to the DFID-Commissioned 'Rigorous Literature Review'. London: Pearson.

UIS and GEM 2016. Leaving no one behind: How far on the way to universal primary and secondary education? Policy paper 27/ Fact sheet 37. Paris: Global Education Monitoring Report.

UN, 2015.

Millennium Development Goals Report [online]. Available at: http://www.un.org/ millenniumgoals/2015_MDG_ Report/pdf/MDG%202015%20 rev%20(July%20 1).pdf

UNESCO, 2014.

Teaching and learning: achieving quality for all. EFA Global Monitoring Report. Paris: UNESCO.

UNESCO, 2015. Pricing the right to education: The cost of reaching new targets by 2030. GEM Report Policy Paper 18, Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0023/002321/ 232197E.pdf

UNICEF, 2000.

Focusing resources on effective school health: a fresh start to enhancing the quality and equity of education. New York: UNICEF.

UN, 2015.

Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. A/RES/70/1, New York: United Nations.

Vegas, E and De Laat, J, 2003. Do differences in teacher contracts affect student performance? Evidence from Togo. Washington, DC: World Bank/Brown University. Villanueva-Mansilla, E and Olivera, P, 2012. Institutional barriers to development innovation: Assessing the implementation of XO-1 computers in two peri-urban schools in Peru. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 8, pp.177–189.

Watkins, WE, Cruz, JR and Pollitt, E, 1996.

The effects of deworming on indicators of school performance in Guatemala. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 90, pp.156–161.

Westhorp, G, Walker, B and Rogers, P, 2013. Under what circumstances does enhancing community accountability and empowerment improve education outcomes, particularly for the poor? A realist synthesis protocol. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

WFP, 2013.

The State of School Feeding Worldwide 2013. Rome: WFP.

Wong, HL, Shi, YJ, Luo, RF, Zhang, LX and Rozelle, S, 2014. Improving the health and education of elementary schoolchildren in rural China: Iron supplementation versus nutritional training for parents. *Journal of Development Studies*, 50, pp.502–519.

World Bank, 2011. Learning for All: Investing in People's Knowledge and Skills to Promote Development. World Bank Group Education Strategy 2020. Washington, DC: World Bank.

World Bank, 2015. *The State of Social Safety Nets 2015.* Washington, DC: World Bank. Yamauchi, F, 2014. An alternative estimate of schoolbased management impacts on students' achievements: Evidence from the Philippines. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Yang, Y, Zhang, L, Zeng, J, Pang, X, Lai, F and Rozelle, S, 2013. Computers and the academic performance of elementary school-aged girls in China's poor communities. *Computers & Education*, 60, pp.335–346.

Yi, H, Song, Y, Liu, C, Huang, X, Zhang, L, Bai, Y, Ren, B, Sui, Y, Loyalka, P, Chu, J and Rozelle, S, 2015. Giving kids a head start: The impact and mechanisms of early commitment of financial aid on poor students in rural China. *Journal of Development Economics*, 113, pp.1–15.

Zeitlin, A, Bategeka, L, Guloba, M, Kasirye, I and Mugisha, F, 2012. *Management and motivation in Ugandan primary schools: Impact evaluation final report*. University of Oxford: Centre for the Study of African Economies.

Zhang, H, 2009.

Magnet schools and student achievement: Evidence from a randomized natural experiment in China. Working paper. Available at: www.aeaweb.org/ aea/conference/program/retrieve. php?pdfid=377

Appendix 1 Summary of findings for primary outcomes

	Enrolment	Attendance	Drop out	Completion	Cognitive	Maths	Language arts	Composite
Child level								
School-feeding	0.14, 95% Cl [–0.05, 0.33] 7 studies	0.09, 95% CI [0.03, 0.16] 6 studies	0.06, 95% CI [-0.15, 0.03] 3 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.03, 0.01] 2 studies	0.11, 95% CI [0.00, 0.22] 7 studies	0.10, 95% CI [0.00, 0.19] 10 studies	0.09, 95% CI [0.01, 0.17] 8 studies	0.14, 95% CI [-0.04, 0.33] 3 studies
School-based health: malaria	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No studies	0.03, 95% CI [–0.05, 0.12] 3 studies	0.16, 95% CI [–0.08, 0.25] 3 studies	0.03, 95% CI [-0.49, 0.55] 3 studies	No studies
School-based health: micronutrients	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.03, 0.05] 2 studies	0.06, 95% CI [0.02, 0.10] 4 studies	No meta- analysis	No studies
School-based health: deworming	No studies	0.04, 95% CI [-0.13, 0.21] 4 studies	No studies	No studies	0.01, 95% CI [-0.03, 0.05] 3 studies	0.05, 95% CI [–0.02, 0.13] 2 studies	–0.04, 95% CI [–0.11, 0.02] 3 studies	No studies
Merit-based scholarships	No studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.06, 0.08] 4 studies	0.04, 95% CI [-0.11, 0.19] 2 studies	0.32, 95% CI [-0.18, 0.46] 2 studies	No meta- analysis	0.11, 95% CI [0.03, 0.20] 10 studies	0.04, 95% CI [–0.07, 0.15] 3 studies	0.10, 95% CI [0.03, 0.17] 7 studies
Providing information	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No meta- analysis
Household level								
Eliminating user fees	0.03, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.06] 8 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.13, 0.15] 2 studies	–0.10, 95% CI [–0.23, 0.02] 4 studies	0.02, 95% CI [–0.10, 0.15] 3 studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies
Cash transfers	0.11, 95% CI [0.07, 0.15] 49 studies	0.13, 95% CI [0.08, 0.18] 38 studies	–0.12, 95% CI [–0.16, –0.07] 16 studies	0.12, 95% CI [0.01, 0.22] 28 studies	0.07, 95% CI [–0.11, 0.25] 2 studies	0.01, 95% Cl [–0.03, 0.04] 14 studies	0.00, 95% Cl [–0.04, 0.04] 14 studies	0.01, 95 % CI [–0.01, 0.03] 3 studies
School level								
Computer- assisted learning	-0.04, 95% CI [-0.11, 0.04] 2 studies	0.04, 95% CI [0.00, 0.07] 2 studies	–0.04, 95% CI [–0.12, 0.04] 2 studies	0.07, 95% CI [–0.07, 0.22] 2 studies	No studies	0.07, 95% CI [0.02, 0.11] 19 studies	–0.01, 95% CI [–0.08, 0.05] 13 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.04, 0.07] 6 studies
Providing materials	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No studies	–0.02, 95% CI [–0.06, 0.02] 5 studies	0.00, 95% CI [-0.02, 0.02] 5 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.02] 5 studies
Remedial education	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No studies	No studies	0.19, 95% CI [–0.05, 0.44] 6 studies	0.16, 95% CI [-0.08, 0.41] 6 studies	0.22, 95%Cl [–0.09, 0.53] 5 studies
New schools and infrastructure: hygiene infrastructure interventions	0.11, 95% CI [0.01, 0.20] 4 studies	0.14, 95% CI [0.05, 0.24] 2 studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies
New schools and infrastructure: construction of new schools	0.38, 95% CI [-0.29, 1.04] 2 studies	0.08, 95% CI [–0.04, 0.19] 2 studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	0.19, 95% CI [–0.15, 0.53] 2 studies	0.02, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.05] 2 studies	No studies
New schools and infrastructure: improvement or construction of new school infrastructure	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	No studies
Pedagogy	No studies	0.02, 95% CI [0.00, 0.04] 5 studies	No meta- analysis	0.13, 95% CI [–0.02, 0.28] 2 studies	0.01, 95% CI [-0.04, 0.07] 2 studies	0.11, 95% CI [0.03, 0.18] 18 studies	0.24, 95% CI [0.12, 0.36] 21 studies	0.06, 95% CI [0.03, 0.08] 3 studies

	Enrolment	Attendance	Drop out	Completion	Cognitive	Maths	Language arts	Composite
School level (con	ntinued)							
Extra time in school	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	0.09 95% CI [–0.04, 0.22] 2 studies	0.19, 95% CI [0.15, 0.24] 2 studies	No studies
School participating by ability: grade retention	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No studies
School participating by ability: tracking	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	0.02, 95% CI [-0.04, 0.08] 2 studies	0.12, 95% CI [-0.03, 0.27] 2 studies	No studies
Teacher level								
Teacher incentives	0.06, 95% Cl [–0.05, 0.16] 2 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.04, 0.06] 3 studies	0.00, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.01] 4 studies	0.03, 95% CI [0.00, 0.05] 4 studies	No studies	0.08, 95% CI [0.02, 0.13] 11 studies	0.00, 95% CI [–0.13, 0.12] 7 studies	0.02, 95% CI [–0.02, 0.05] 4 studies
Teacher hiring	No studies	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	0.04, 95% CI [0.01, 0.08] 3 studies	No studies	0.10, 95% CI [0.00, 0.20] 2 studies	0.06, 95% CI [0.03, 0.10] 2 studies	0.06, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.12] 3 studies
Teacher training	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	No meta- analysis	No studies
Diagnostic feedback	No studies	No studies	No studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	0.01, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.03] 3 studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.05] 3 studies	No meta- analysis
System level								
School-based management	0.01, 95% CI [-0.04, 0.07] 3 studies	No meta- analysis	–0.02, 95% CI [–0.05, 0.01] 7 studies	0.05, 95% CI [0.00, 0.09] 8 studies	No studies	0.01, 95% CI [–0.02, 0.05] 21 studies	–0.01, 95%Cl [–0.07, 0.05] 20 studies	–0.01, 95% CI [–0.10, 0.08] 9 studies
Community- based monitoring	0.17, 95% CI [0.08, 0.25] 12 studies	0.04, 95% CI [–0.09, 0.18] 3 studies	0.05, 95% CI [–0.09, 0.20] 3 studies	0.06, 95% CI [0.01, 0.12] 3 studies	No studies	0.12, 95% CI [0.01, 0.22] 9 studies	0.12, 95% CI [0.01, 0.22] 9 studies	0.10, 95% CI [–0.01, 0.21] 7 studies
Public–private partnerships	0.19, 95% CI [0.01, 0.36] 7 studies	No studies	No meta- analysis	0.23, 95%Cl [–0.07, 0.53] 3 studies	No studies	0.04, 95% CI [0.00, 0.09] 7 studies	0.04, 95% CI [0.00, 0.09] 7 studies	0.07, 95% CI [–0.07, 0.20] 4 studies
Multi-component interventions								
Multi-component interventions	0.01, 95% CI [-0.06, 0.08] 3 studies	0.16, 95% CI [-0.12, 0.44] 3 studies	0.16, 95% CI [-0.33, 0.02] 3 studies	0.13, 95% CI [0.04, 0.21] 4 studies	No studies	0.16, 95% CI [–0.17, 0.48] 10 studies	0.04, 95% CI [-0.17, 0.26] 14 studies	0.02, 95% CI [-0.08, 0.12] 3 studies

Appendix 2 Intervention result matrix

Outcome	What works in most contexts?	What is promising (may work in some contexts)?	What doesn't always work?	What is unknown? a) Two studies or less available b) Few studies (2–4) with average effect small	
		a) Few studies (2–4), with average effect size (ES) large in magnitude	More than six studies, average ES suggests no substantive effects, or negative effects, with evidence of negative effects in		
		b) More studies (4–10), ES large in magnitude, but may be imprecise due to heterogeneity	some contexts	in magnitude, but with large amount of heterogeneity.	
Enrolment or attendance	Cash transfers	New schools and infrastructure Community based monitoring Public-private partnerships (low-cost private schools) School feeding	Reducing or removing user fees	School-based health Providing information Diagnostic feedback Teacher hiring Tracking by ability Grade retention Computer-assisted learning Extending the school day Remedial education Merit-based scholarships Structured pedagogy	
Drop out/ Completion	Cash transfers			School feeding School-based health Merit-based scholarships Computer-assisted learning Providing materials Remedial education New schools and infrastructure Diagnostic feedback Teacher hiring Teacher training Tracking by ability Grade retention Public-private partnerships Community-based monitoring Extending the school day Remedial education Structured pedagogy	
Test scores	Structured pedagogy	Extending the school day Remedial education Merit-based scholarships Community-based monitoring School-feeding	No studies	School-based health Computer-assisted learning Providing materials Remedial education New schools and infrastructure Diagnostic feedback Teacher hiring Teacher training Tracking by ability Grade retention Public-private partnerships	

Endnotes

1

Readers interested in details of study methods and full technical results should consult the full report: www.3ieimpact.org/evidence-hub/ systematic-review-repository/ improving-learning-outcomes-andaccess-education-low-and

2

Standardised mean differences can be difficult to interpret in practice. Therefore we have also calculated the standardised percentage change, assuming a normalised distribution using the binominal effect size display formula (Randolph and Edmondson 2005).

3

Based on the selection criteria, interventions such as early childhood development, distance education, physical education, special needs education and programmes for improving girls' sexual and reproductive health were excluded.

4

The number of impact evaluations is higher than the number of programmes as multiple impact evaluations were conducted for some programmes.

5

These studies were identified using a targeted search – see technical report for more details.

6

These numbers correspond to the number of included studies by outcome for those studies included in the meta-analysis only. Several other studies reported on these outcomes but were not suitable for synthesis.

7

Deworming, malaria prevention and treatment, micronutrients, and one study each for vision correction and incentives based school-based health.

The grant was typically spent on notebooks, writing materials, workbooks and stationery.

9

The only learning outcome reported on by this study was maths scores. 10

Schools had to design school improvement plans in order to receive the grants.

11

Recent attempts at summarising the evidence on the effects of publicprivate partnerships have also attracted controversy. A rigorous literature review commissioned by the Department for International Development in the UK (Ashlev et al. 2014) sparked a debate about the effects of private provision of schooling. Tooley and Longfield (2015) criticise the approach taken by the original authors. They re-reviewed the evidence included in the study by the original authors, concluding more favourably than the original review. This highlights the need for a systematic review of high-quality evidence on the effects of public-private partnerships.

In addition to the examples cited here, results on multi-component interventions (reported in full in the technical report only) also offer some support for this finding. Multi-component interventions were a very diverse group of interventions in terms of design. The only real unifying feature of the included programmes was that the interventions had individual components that tackle different barriers to education. The average effects are relatively large in magnitude for attendance, drop out, completion and maths, as compared to other intervention areas covered in the review. But, apart from completion rates, the confidence intervals of all pooled effects cross the line of no effect. All results are based on a few and very diverse studies. Apart from the analysis of completion, all average estimates are also sensitive to the removal of studies with particularly large effects. The average effects should therefore be interpreted with caution and the effects of multicomponent programmes should be investigated in further studies.

13

Other studies, such as McEwan (2013), have conducted cost-effectiveness analysis comparing different programmes. For several intervention areas covered in this review, there were no studies that included cost data, and for other areas the data were limited in quality and quantity. We are therefore not able to make reliable estimates that could be generalised beyond specific programmes, and that could be attached to the average effect estimated for an intervention type (rather than individual programme), allowing a comparison of relative costeffectiveness across intervention types.

Photo credits

p2: Asian Development Bank p4: The World Bank p10: © Liang Qiang / World Bank p14: Asian Development Bank p15: © Rural Education Action Program p16: Asian Development Bank p17: Kelly Shimoda/ Community Eye Health p18: The World Bank p19: Captain John Severns, **US Air Force** p21: © Global Partnership for Education/Carine Durand p22: © Aisha Faquir/World Bank p23: © Scott Wallace/ World Bank p24: Asian Development Bank p27: Asian Development Bank p28: © Global Partnership for Education / Midastouch p29: Asian Development Bank p30: National Initiative for Human **Development Support Project** p31: Rural Education Action Program p35: © Liang Qiang World Bank p43: © Scott Wallace / World Bank p46: Asian Development Bank p48: Asian Development Bank p65: United States Agency for International Development



Improved access to education has failed to translate into improved learning in many low- and middle-income countries (L&MICs). Nearly 250 million children in L&MICs cannot read, write or do basic maths. A range of different education interventions have been implemented to resolve what is being seen as a learning crisis.

To find out what evidence exists about improving learning, 3ie carried out a systematic review that synthesised qualitative and quantitative evidence from 238 impact evaluations of 216 education programmes in 52 L&MICs. This summary report is based on the comprehensive systematic review, which has been published separately on the 3ie website. This summary report is well-suited for use by policymakers and programme managers. It focuses on the impacts of a range of interventions on a host of outcomes, including children's school enrolment, attendance and learning. The summary report presents key lessons for policy, programming and research stemming from the full systematic review.

Systematic Review Summary Series

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation London International Development Centre 36 Gordon Square London WC1H 0PD United Kingdom

3ieuk@3ieimpact.org Tel: +44 207 958 8351/8350

